# Landscape and Visual Appraisal

# Land at Milverton, Warwickshire

Prepared on behalf of Taylor Wimpey Limited

October 2014



bartonwillmore.co.uk

# Landscape and Visual Appraisal Land at Milverton, Warwickshire

Prepared on behalf of Taylor Wimpey Limited

Project Ref:	19697	19697	19697
Status:	Draft	Draft	Final
Issue/Rev:	1	2	3
Date:	09/09/2014	23/09/2014	15/10/2014
Prepared by:	AH	AH	AH
Checked by:	AH/MC	AH/MC	AH/MC
Authorised by:	AH/MC	AH/MC	AH/MC

Barton Willmore LLP 7 Soho Square London W1D 3QB

Tel: 020 7446 6888 Fax: 020 7446 6889 E-Mail: Matthew.Chard@bartonwillmore.co.uk Ref: 219697/A5/Reports/AH Date: October 2014 Status: FINAL

#### COPYRIGHT

The contents of this document must not be copied or reproduced in whole or in part without the written consent of The Barton Willmore Planning Partnership.

All Barton Willmore stationery is produced using recycled or FSC paper and vegetable oil based inks.

# CONTENTS

1.0	INTRODUCTION1
2.0	SITE CONTEXT
3.0	METHODOLOGY
4.0	PLANNING POLICY9
5.0	LANDSCAPE CHARACTER
6.0	SITE APPRAISAL
7.0	VISUAL APPRAISAL
8.0	CONTRIBUTION THE SITE MAKES TO THE PURPOSES OF THE GREEN BELT
9.0	OBJECTIVES, LANDSCAPE AND VISUAL OPPORTUNITIES AND CONSTRAINTS TO DEVELOPMENT 42
10.0	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

# ILLUSTRATIVE MATERIAL

Figure	1: Site Context Plan at 1:12,500 scale @ A1;
Figure 2	2: Landscape Character Plan at 1:12,500 scale @ A1
Figure 3	3: Topographical Features Plan at 1:12,500 scale @ A1;
Figure 4	4: Site Appraisal Plan at 1:5,000 scale @ A3;
Figure !	5: Visual Appraisal Plan at 1:12,500 scale @ A1; and
Figure	5: Opportunities and Constraints Plan at 1:5,000 scale @ A3

# APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Site Appraisal and Site Context Photographs Appendix 2: Landscape Character Extracts

# **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

- 1.1 Barton Willmore Landscape Planning and Design (BWLPD) were commissioned by Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd to undertake a Landscape and Visual Appraisal of land at Milverton, Warwickshire (hereinafter referred to as the 'Site') for the purpose of identifying its suitability for residential development (the 'Proposed Development'), and subsequently prepare a landscape and visual opportunities and constraints / development principles plan to inform the development proposals.
- 1.2 A landscape appraisal is the systematic description and analysis of the features within the landscape, such as landform, vegetation cover, settlement and transport patterns and land use. A visual appraisal assesses visual amenity receptors, which are the viewers of the landscape, and could include locations such as residential or business properties, public buildings, public open space and public rights of way.
- 1.3 This report also provides an appraisal of the Site in terms of its contribution to the purposes of the Green Belt. The objectives are to consider the policy basis for the underlying Green Belt designation which applies to the Site; assess the landscape character and visibility of the Site and inform the potential to release the area of Green Belt land encompassing the Site in relation to the five purposes of the Green Belt, as identified in National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraph 80.
- 1.4 The Appraisal should be read in conjunction with the following figures and appendices:
  - Figure 1: Site Context Plan at 1:12,500 scale @ A1;
  - Figure 2: Landscape Character Plan at 1:12,500 scale @ A1
  - Figure 3: Topographical Features Plan at 1:12,500 scale @ A1;
  - Figure 4: Site Appraisal Plan at 1:5,000 scale @ A3;
  - Figure 5: Visual Appraisal Plan at 1:12,500 scale @ A1;
  - Figure 6: Opportunities and Constraints Plan at 1:5,000 scale @ A3;
  - Appendix 1: Site Appraisal and Site Context Photographs; and
  - Appendix 2: Landscape Character Extracts.

# 2.0 SITE CONTEXT

- 2.1 As shown on Figure 1: Site Context Plan, the Site is located on the northern edge of the town of Leamington Spa, with its southern boundary immediately adjoining the gardens of residential properties located within the area of Milverton. The town of Warwick is located some 2km to the south-west and its eastern limits come within very close proximity of the western extent of Leamington Spa, giving the impression of a large swathe of built development south of the Site, extending from east to west and also to the south-east.
- 2.2 Larger settlements are far less evident to the north and north-west of the Site, with smaller villages and isolated farms predominating, set within a landscape of medium to large sized agricultural fields utilised for arable cropping and stock grazing, along with other land uses such as Warwickshire Golf and Country Club, located approximately 1.7km to the north-west of the Site.
- 2.3 The A452 Kenilworth Road runs in a north-south direction along most of the eastern boundary, although the north-eastern part of the boundary skirts around a small copse and the wooded southern edge of the car park of Warwickshire Nuffield Hospital, and includes a number of other buildings clustered around a roundabout where Old Milverton Lane meets the A452.
- 2.4 The northern boundary is defined in most part by Sandy Lane which becomes Old Milverton Road in the north-eastern corner, while the Learnington Spa to Kenilworth railway line runs along the western boundary. The A46 Warwick by-pass runs in a north-south direction approximately 1.2km to the west of the Site with the A46/A429 interchange located some 1km to the west of the north-western corner of the Site. The A452 Rugby Road runs in an east-west direction approximately 500 metres to the south of the Site, within the urban area.
- 2.5 The River Avon is a notable landscape feature in close proximity to the Site, running from west to east and then turning in a north-easterly direction, approximately 300 - 400 metres to the north.

#### Public Rights of Way

2.6 A public right of way (PRoW W176/L3) passes through the Site travelling in an east-west direction from Bamburgh Close to Old Milverton. In the wider landscape there are a number of PRoWs to the west of the Site, across the railway line, within a body of land encircled by the River Avon as it sweeps from north to south in a semi-circular route. Two of these paths emanate from the St James's Church at Old Milverton and head south-west and south east, towards Guy's Cliffe and the edge of Milverton respectively. Further PRoW exist to the north

and north-east of the Site, heading northwards form Hill Wootton Road in the vicinity of Hill Wootton, a settlement on higher land some 1.3km north of the Site.

# Topography and Hydrology

- 2.7 As shown on Figure 2: Topographical Features Plan, the Site is located close to the River Avon within the general floodplain area, although land falls away beyond the northern boundary of the Site towards the River Avon, which meanders across the landscape at an elevation of approximately 50m AOD. Landform is generally related to the winding route of the River Avon as it heads north and in this direction the landscape rises gently towards a prominent high point of approximately 90m AOD at Leek Wootton to the north-west, with an elevation of approximately 76m AOD at Hill Wootton to the north.
- 2.8 Landform is clearly influenced by the River Avon as it heads south and then south westwards through the southern part of Warwick, with elevations again ranging from between 55m AOD. The River Learn joins the River Avon along the western edge of Learnington Spa and heads eastwards through the heart of the town, again at levels of approximately 50m AOD, before land rises sharply along the eastern edge of the town, associated with the Campion Hills area.

#### Vegetation

- 2.9 Vegetation in the vicinity of the Site is relatively sparse, with the main wooded areas in the immediate vicinity associated with the partly wooded banks of the River Avon. Small areas of woodland and linear tree belts are also associated with settlement patterns to the north-east of the Site, either side of Stoneleigh Road as it heads north-east from the B4113.
- 2.10 To the west beyond the railway line, there are again some small scale areas of vegetation associated with residential, farm related and other various buildings along Old Milverton Road, while further west vegetation is again evident along the banks of the River Avon as it curves down towards Learnington Spa.
- 2.11 In the wider landscape, open, agricultural fields dominate the landscape pattern, divided by well managed hedgerows with few trees, although in some places the fields are not bounded with any landscape features except ditches. Woodland cover increases towards the north-west in association with Warwickshire Golf and Country Club where some small and medium sized, mainly linear shaped copses are clustered in the central northern part of the course and larger woodland blocks are located to the north and west of the course. Vegetation is also evident within and around Leek Wootton to the immediate north-east of the golf course, related to residential gardens and some field boundaries.

2.12 Larger woodland blocks exist to the north-west of the Site around the settlement of Leek Wootton, and to the north of the Site around the settlement of Ashow.

#### Designations

National Designations

2.13 The Site does not lie within or within visible range of any nationally designated landscapes.

Regional, County or Local Designations

- 2.14 The Site lies within the Green Belt as defined on the District Wide Proposals Map that accompanies the adopted Warwick District Local Plan (1996 2011) although Policy DAP1: Protecting the Green Belt has not been 'saved' so is no longer active. Current Green Belt policy for the District is set out in the NPPF.
- 2.15 The south-eastern part of the Site adjoins a very small section of the Royal Leamington Spa Conservation Area, (specifically Area 33: Northumberland Road) as shown on Figure 1: Site Context Plan. This represents a very small section of an extensive conservation area boundary. Conservation Areas are designated under Section 69 of the 1990 Planning Act which defines them as, "Areas of special architectural or historical interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance." Proposed development in close proximity to Conservation Areas should consider the setting of the Area when design plans are prepared, including building style, materials, colour, height and detailing.
- 2.16 As shown on Figure 1: Site Context Plan there are numerous Listed Buildings within Royal Learnington Spa, mainly concentrated to the south and south-east of the Site within the built up urban area, although a number are also located to the east of the Site within and close to Old Milverton. The closest ones to the Site are as follows:
  - 46 Kenilworth Road, Grade II, circa 290 metres to the south of the south eastern corner of the Site;
  - Barn, 24 yards to east of cottage farmhouse, Grade II, circa 380 metres to the west of the north western corner of the Site;
  - Cottage Farmhouse, Grade II, circa 450 metres west of the north western corner of the Site;
  - 36 Kenilworth Road, 38 Kenilwoth Road, both Grade II, circa 455 metres to the south of the south eastern corner of the Site;
  - Church of Saint James, Grade II, circa 480 metres west of the north-western corner of the Site; and

- Parkhouse Farmhouse, Grade II, circa 560 metres west of the north western corner of the Site.
- 2.17 Section 66 (1) of the Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act 1990 refers to the desirability of preserving the Listed Building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. As the Visual Appraisal demonstrates, all the listed buildings noted above are considered sufficiently separated from the Site by landform, intervening vegetation and built forms to avoid adverse effects from the Proposed Development.
- 2.18 Guy's Cliffe is an approximately 56 hectare, Grade II Registered Park & Garden with its eastern boundary located approximately 510 metres to the west of the Site boundary and through which the river Avon flows from north to south-east. The citation for this designated landscape reads, "Early C19 gardens and pleasure grounds in part designed by Uvedale Price, which were developed from C17 riverside walks and mid C18 rococo gardens". There is no intervisibility between the Guy's Cliffe Registered Park and Garden and the Site.
- 2.19 Within Guy's Cliffe there is a Scheduled Monument known as 'Guy's Cave hermitage and other rock cut chambers at Guy's Cliffe'. The citation for the monument reads, "The monument includes the standing and buried remains and rock cut features of Guy's Cave hermitage and chapel at Guy's Cliffe, as well as caves and rock cut features associated with the later use of the site, within three separate areas of protection."
- 2.20 There are no Registered Battlefields within visible range of the Site so no further consideration of this historical and cultural feature has been included in this report.

# 3.0 METHODOLOGY

# Landscape and Visual Appraisal

- 3.1 The Landscape and Visual Appraisal has been prepared with reference to the guidelines as set out in the 'Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment ' 3rd Edition, and Topic Paper 6: 'Techniques and Criteria for Judging Capacity and Sensitivity '. The aim of these guidelines is to set high standards for the scope and content of landscape and visual assessments and to establish certain principles that will help to achieve consistency, credibility and effectiveness when undertaking these forms of assessment. A desktop assessment of the study area was undertaken, including an assessment of landscape character, landform, landscape features, historic evolution, policy and designations. This information was used as the initial basis against which to appraise the Site. A visit to the Site and surroundings was subsequently undertaken in August 2014 to verify desk-based findings and provide photography for inclusion within this appraisal.
- 3.2 The appraisal has been confined to an area approximately 3.0km from the Site, referred to as the study area. The study area selected is considered to be of a sufficient scale to establish the landscape and visual baseline of the Site and to determine its contribution to the landscape and the aims and purposes of the Green Belt.
- 3.3 A description of the existing land use of the study area is provided and includes reference to existing areas of settlement, transport routes and vegetation cover, as well as local landscape designations, elements of cultural and heritage value and local landmarks or tourist destinations. These factors combine to provide an understanding of landscape value and sensitivity and provide an indication of particular key views and viewpoints that are available to visual receptors and which should therefore be included in the visual appraisal.
- 3.4 To determine the extent of visual influence, a visual appraisal was undertaken of the Site to consider the nature of existing views from publically accessible viewpoints including roads, Public Rights of Way (PRoW) and public open space. Consideration was given to private views however access to private properties was not obtained. Views were assessed from all directions and from a range of distances. The viewpoints chosen are not intended to be an exhaustive list, but rather to represent the potential views attained towards the Site in order to identify areas of higher visual sensitivity which may not be best suited for development.
- 3.5 A more detailed landscape appraisal of the Site is then undertaken, which in combination with the wider visual appraisal, assists in the identification of opportunities and constraints which would assist in defining the boundaries for potential future development, and thus an amended Green Belt boundary.

# 3.6 The sensitivity of the Site is considered in terms of the following:

# Landscape Character

i.e. landform, vegetation cover, land use, scale, state or repair of individual elements, representation of typological character, enclosure pattern, form/line and movement

Visual Influence

i.e. landform influences, tree and woodland cover, numbers and types of residents, numbers are types of visitors and scope for mitigating potential for visual impacts

Landscape Value

i.e. national designations, local designations, sense of tranquillity/remoteness, scenic beauty and cultural associations

Evaluating the Contribution of the Green Belt

- 3.7 As illustrated on Figure 1: Site Context Plan land surrounding Milverton, including the Site, is designated as Green Belt Land. Relevant Green Belt Policy relating to this land has been identified at the national and local levels in the following chapter.
- 3.8 The Site was first assessed against each of the first four of the five purposes of Green Belt as set out in the NPPF. The fifth purpose "to assist in urban regeneration by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban land" was not considered of relevance to the Site. Therefore, the following four criteria have been considered:
  - To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
  - To prevent neighbouring towns from merging in to one another;
  - To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; and
  - To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns.
- 3.9 In evaluating the contribution of the land to the Green Belt, the following criteria (Table 1) will be used to assess the contribution of the Site to the first four purposes of the Green Belt.

Table 1: Contribution of Green Belt Purpose Ca	ategories
--	-----------

Threshold	Assessment	
Significant	Significant landscape and visual contribution towards purpose of Green Belt	
Some	Some landscape and visual contribution towards purpose of Green Belt	
Limited	Limited landscape and visual contribution towards purpose of Green Belt	
None	No landscape and visual contribution towards purpose of Green Belt	

Assessment against the Characteristics of the Green Belt

- 3.10 The NPPF states that the key characteristics of the Green Belt are 'their openness and their permanence,' (paragraph 79). In defining new boundaries to the Green Belt, it must be ensured that these characteristics are not diminished for the areas remaining within the Green Belt designation as a direct result of development on the identified sites.
- 3.11 An assessment will be made of the openness of the Green Belt in that particular location and to what extent the removal of the Site would have on the perception of openness in the remaining designated area.
- 3.12 In addition, the Site and its location will be shown demonstrating their relationship to existing elements, such as motorways and rivers, as well as visual barriers, such as ridgelines and areas of woodland. This is to help assess the impacts of the development upon the openness of the remaining designated areas and to help identify boundaries that may be considered to be 'permanent'.

# Definitions

3.13 When considering the ability of the Site to meet each of the purposes of the Green Belt, the following definitions should be considered.

#### Openness

3.14 Openness is taken to be the degree to which the area is unaffected by built structures. It is considered that, in order to be a robust assessment, this should be considered from first principles, i.e. acknowledging existing structures that occur within the area, rather than seeing them as being 'washed over' by the existing Green Belt designation.

Sprawl

3.15 Disorganised and unattractive extension to developed area (perhaps lacking defensible boundary), spread out over a large area in an untidy or irregular way.

Encroachment

3.16 The gradual advancement of development beyond an acceptable or established limit.

Defensible boundaries

3.17 The NPPF states that, when choosing boundaries, 'local authorities should define boundaries clearly, using physical features that are readily recognisable and likely to be permanent,' (paragraph 85).

# 4.0 PLANNING POLICY

National

National Planning Policy Framework

- 4.1 The NPPF aims to provide one concise document which sets out the Government's planning policies for England by replacing previous Planning Policy Guidance (PPGs) and Planning Policy Statements (PPSs). It aims to provide a planning framework within which the local community and local authorities can produce distinctive local plans which respond to local needs and priorities.
- 4.2 The NPPF promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable development, defined as "meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs", and providing it is in accordance with the relevant up-to-date Local Plan, and policies set out in the NPPF including those identifying restrictions with regard to designated areas. The NPPF states that the "The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development" and that there are "three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and environmental". The role the environment will play is described as "contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; and as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use of natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to climate change including moving to a Low carbon economy."
- 4.3 Twelve Core Planning Principles are set out, of which the following are relevant to consideration of landscape and visual matters, and state that planning should:
  - "not simply be about scrutiny, but instead be a creative exercise in finding ways to enhance and improve the places in which people live their lives;
  - always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings;
  - take account of the different roles and character of different areas, promoting the vitality of our main urban areas, protecting the Green Belts around them, recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and supporting thriving rural communities within it;

- contribute to conserving and enhancing the natural environment and reducing pollution. Allocations of land for development should prefer land of lesser environmental value, where consistent with other policies in this Framework; and
- conserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this and future generations."
- 4.4 The NPPF then identifies and describes thirteen aspects contributing to the delivery of sustainable development which should be considered in developing local plans and reviewing planning applications. Those of relevance to the landscape and visual considerations of the Site and Proposed Development include Section 7: Requiring good design. Paragraph 58 states that planning policies and decisions should aim to ensure that developments, *inter alia*:
  - "...Establish a strong sense of place;
    ...
  - respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings;
  - are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and appropriate landscaping."
- 4.5 Paragraph 61 states that:

"planning policies and decisions should address the connections between people and places and the integration of new development into the natural, built and historic environment."

- 4.6 With regard to the natural environment, Paragraphs 109-125 of Section 11 focus on conserving and enhancing the local and natural environment. The framework states that the planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by inter alia "protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, geological conservation interests and soils."
- 4.7 Paragraph 110 sets out that the aim, in preparing plans for development, should be to minimise adverse effects on the local and natural environment, and that plans should allocate land with the least environmental or amenity value.

#### 4.8 Paragraph 114 notes that furthermore, local planning authorities should:

"set out a strategic approach in their Local Plans, planning positively for the creation, protection, enhancement and management of networks of biodiversity and green infrastructure."

4.9 Paragraph 125 states that:

"By encouraging good design, planning policies and decisions should limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation."

- 4.10 The Site currently forms part of the Green Belt. The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy, as set out at paragraph 79 (Chapter 9: Protecting Green Belt Land) of the NPPF is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open. In this respect, the NPPF advises that the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence.
- 4.11 The general purposes of the Green Belt as stated at paragraph 80 in the NPPF are:
  - "(i) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
  - (ii) to prevent neighbouring towns from merging into one another;
  - (iii) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
  - (iv) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
  - (v) to assist in urban regeneration by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban land."
- 4.12 Paragraph 81 of the NPPF provides advice on the use for land within designated Green Belts, indicating that Green Belts have a positive role to play in fulfilling the following objectives relevant to the Site:

"... enhance the beneficial use of the Green Belt, such as looking for opportunities to provide access; to provide opportunities for outdoor sport and recreation; to retain and enhance landscapes, visual amenity and biodiversity; or to improve damaged or derelict land."

#### County and District Level Planning Policy

4.13 Under the provisions of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004), Warwickshire

County Council now only deals with 'County matter' development, which is primarily minerals and waste development. In addition, as from 20th May 2013 the saved Warwickshire Structure Plan policies no longer form part of the statutory Development Plan for Warwickshire. Therefore all planning policies relating to housing developments are contained within relevant District level Development Plans.

Warwick District Local Plan 1996 – 2011 (adopted September 2007)

4.14 This Plan is the currently adopted document which controls the location and nature of new development within the district. Most of the policies have been 'saved' for use by the Council in taking planning decisions until such time as they are replaced by the emerging Warwick District Local Plan (2011 – 2029). Chapter 3 is concerned with the Core Strategy which includes four main aims, the second of which, 'Effective Protection of the Environment' is of particular relevance. Within each main Aim are a number of relevant Objectives, as follows:

# "Objective 2B: To protect and enhance the natural environment:

 We recognise our responsibility to protect important assets of the natural environment, particularly biodiversity, for current and future generations. An attractive and diverse natural environment will contribute towards the achievement of economic, environmental and social aims. We will therefore protect the landscape character, geological/geomorphological features and wildlife habitats and species of value and acknowledged national, regional or local importance from inappropriate new development in urban and rural locations. We will aim, wherever possible, to enhance all of these assets,"

"Objective 2D: To maintain and enhance the quality of landscapes and townscapes:

 The landscape quality of our rural areas and the character and setting of the District's towns and villages are important in giving Warwick District distinctiveness and identity. The historic street patterns and 'green corridors' that run through the towns and villages are important features and distinctive attributes of the District. We will protect sensitive areas from new development to ensure that the towns and villages retain their separate identities and individual characters." "Objective 2E: To promote high quality sustainable design and enhance the built environment:

- The appearance of new development can have a significant impact on the quality of our built environment which in turn can influence the achievement of other economic and social aims.
- Securing good design is essential to achieving attractive environments for people to live and work in and to visit. We will require proposals to have regard to their context and to local architectural, historical and natural features. We will support proposals which can demonstrate a positive contribution to the quality of the built environment and will encourage innovative design which is sensitive to its locality."
- 4.15 Section A of the Local Plan is entitled District Wide Policies and Chapter 4 is concerned with Development Policies, the following of which are relevant.
- 4.16 Policy DP1: Layout and Design, states that:

"Development will only be permitted which positively contributes to the character and quality of its environment through good layout and design. Development proposals will be expected to demonstrate that they:

b) relate well to local topography and landscape features, including prominent ridge lines"

4.17 Policy DP1 further states that:

"Development proposals which have a significant impact on the character and appearance of an area will be required to demonstrate how they comply with this policy by way of a Character Appraisal and Design Statement."

4.18 Policy DP3: Natural and Historic Environment and Landscape, states that development will only be permitted which:

> "... protects important natural features and positively contributes to the character and quality of its natural and historic environment through good habitat/landscape design and management.

4.19 Furthermore, development proposals will be expected to demonstrate that they:

c) "protect and enhance the landscape character of the area, particularly respecting its historic character;
 d) provide appropriate levels of amenity space which incorporate suitable habitat features and hard and soft landscaping;

 e) integrate the amenity space and proposed landscaping into the overall development

Development proposals which have a significant impact upon the character and appearance of an area will be required to demonstrate how they comply with this policy by way of a Nature Conservation and Landscape Analysis. Where adverse impacts are unavoidable, the Council may consider possible mitigation measures to reduce any harm caused by these adverse impacts. Where mitigation measures are not possible, compensation measures may be appropriate".

4.20 Chapter 5 is concerned with 'Sustaining Communities' and in the 'Building Communities' sub section, Policy SC13 is relevant. Policy SC13: Open Space and Recreational Improvements states that:

> "Contributions from residential and commercial developments will be sought to provide, improve and maintain appropriate open space, sport and recreational facilities to meet local needs."

- 4.21 Section B of the Local Plan, entitled Location Specific Policies, includes a number of policies relevant to the Proposed Development.
- 4.22 Policy UAP1: Directing New Housing states:

"Residential development will be permitted on previously developed land and buildings within the confines of the urban areas subject to other policies to manage the supply of housing under Policy SC10. In all other circumstances, residential development will not be permitted unless it is for affordable housing to meet local needs in accordance with the definition within Policy SC11."

4.23 It should be noted that Policy DAP1: Protecting the Green Belt has not been 'saved' so is no

longer active.

4.24 The south-eastern part of the Site adjoins a very small part of the Royal Learnington Spa Conservation Area, therefore Policy DAP8: Protection of Conservation Areas is relevant and states that:

> "Development will be required to preserve or enhance the special architectural and historic interest and appearance of Conservation Areas as defined on the Proposals Map. Development will also be expected to respect the setting of Conservation Areas and important views both in and out of them."

Draft Warwick District Local Plan 2011 - 2029 (no issue date)

- 4.25 Warwick District Council is preparing a new Local Plan for Warwick District which will guide the area's future development for the next 18 years. The publication draft Local Plan has was consulted on between 16<sup>th</sup> May and 27<sup>th</sup> June 2014. The Council are currently considering the responses to this consultation but, subject to the outcomes of the consultation period, may now proceed to the Submission of the new Local Plan to the Secretary of State for Examination.
- 4.26 Due to the new Local Plan not having been submitted to the Secretary of State for Examination, and thus not independently examined or found to be a 'sound' planning document, very little weight can be given to it for decision making purposes. Notwithstanding this, in order to carry out a robust assessment of the Site it is considered that it should still be taken account as part of this appraisal. A number of the draft policies have been adapted from those contained within the approved Warwick District Local Plan (WDLP, 1996 2011), and where applicable this has been indicated below. In addition, a raft of new policies have also been introduced and included in consideration below.
- 4.27 The draft Local Plan states the following under section 'Local Plan Objectives', point 1.51 in relation to new development:

"Make sure new developments are appropriately distributed across the District and designed and located to maintain and improve the quality of the built and natural environments, particularly historic areas and buildings, sensitive wildlife habitats and areas of high landscape value. In addition new developments should respect the integrity of existing settlements".

4.28 Point 1.54 goes on to state the following objective:

"Protect and enhance high quality landscapes and important heritage and natural assets, ensuring that where adaptation is needed, this is done in a sensitive way".

4.29 The draft Local Plan goes on to set out four Strategic Policies, with the third of these, Strategic Policy DS3: Supporting Sustainable Communities, of particular relevance, which states:

"We will promote high quality new development including:

- a) delivering high quality layout and design which relates to existing landscape or urban form and, where appropriate, is based on the principles of garden towns, villages and suburbs;
- b) caring for our built, cultural and natural heritage;
  ...
  c) protecting areas of significance including high quality
- landscapes, heritage assets and ecological assets;
- 4.30 Strategic Policy DS3 goes on to say that:

...

"We will expect development which enables new communities to develop and sustain themselves. As part of this we will provide for the infrastructure needed to support communities and businesses including:

- c) green infrastructure (such as parks, open space and playing pitches)."
- 4.31 Strategic Policy DS4: Spatial Strategy is also of relevance, stating that:

"Allocated Housing and Employment will be distributed across the District to take account of the following:

b) where greenfield sites are required for housing, they should be located on the edge of urban areas in sustainable locations close to areas of employment or where community facilities such as shops, bus services, medical facilities and schools are available or can be made available."

- ...
- d) limiting development on sites which would lead to coalescence of settlements to ensure settlement identity is retained;
- e) sites which have a detrimental impact on the significance of heritage assets will be avoided unless suitable mitigation can be put in place;
- f) areas assessed as high landscape value or other highly sensitive features in the natural environment will be avoided; and
- g) taking the national Green Belt policy in to account, sites in the green belt will be limited to those locations where exceptional circumstances can be justified. The following will be taken into account in considering exceptional circumstances:
  - the availability of alternative suitable sites outside the Green Belt;
  - ii. the potential of the site to meet specific housing or employment needs that cannot be met elsewhere;
  - iii. the potential of the site to support regeneration within deprived areas; and
  - iv. the potential of the site to provide support to facilities and services in rural areas.
- 4.32 Policy DS19: Green Belt states:

"The extent of the Green Belt is defined on the Policies Map. The Council will apply Green Belt policy in accordance with government guidance as set out in the national planning policy."

4.33 Again, the Explanation section of the policy text is relevant where it states:

"The Warwickshire Green Belt covers a large part of the District and seeks to prevent urban sprawl that would prejudice the open nature and predominantly rural character of this area. National policy regards inappropriate development as, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and advises that it should only be approved in very special circumstances. In addition, national policy identifies exceptions to what is deemed inappropriate. Other policies in this plan expand upon the meaning of those exceptions, including: Limited Village Infill Housing Development in the Green Belt...,"

4.34 Policy H1: Directing New Housing is relevant as it is concerned with where new housing will be permitted, as follows:

> "Housing development will be permitted in the following circumstances:

# b) within the Growth Villages and Limited Infill Villages, as identified below and on the Policies Map;"

- 4.35 Policy HS4: Improvements to Open Space, Sport and Recreation Facilities is very similar in wording to Policy SC13: 'Open Space and Recreational Improvements' in the adopted Warwickshire District Local Plan so has not been reproduced here.
- 4.36 The draft Local Plan goes on to include a number of relevant policies related to the built environment, including Policy BE1: Layout and Design. However, the wording of this policy is very similar to Policy DP1: 'Layout and Design' in the adopted Warwickshire District Local Plan, so has not been reproduced here.
- 4.37 The draft Local Plan expands consideration of the natural environment and landscape character in comparison to the adopted Warwickshire District Local Plan and includes a number of new policies of relevance to the proposed development.
- 4.38 Policy NE1: Green Infrastructure, states that:

...

"The Council will protect, enhance and restore the District's green infrastructure assets and strive for a healthy integrated network for the benefit of nature, people and the economy...., The Council will continue to work with partners, including neighbouring authorities and the Local Nature Partnership to plan for green infrastructure at a landscape scale: protecting and enhancing existing habitats and restoring fragmented areas ensuring access natural green space and improvements to landscape character."

4.39 Policy NE4: Landscape states that:

"New development will be permitted which positively contributes

to landscape character. Development proposals will be required to demonstrate that they:

- a) integrate landscape planning into the design of development at an early stage;
- b) consider its landscape context, including the local distinctiveness of the different natural and historic landscapes and character, including tranquillity;
- c) relate well to local topography and built form and enhance key landscape features, ensuring their long term management and maintenance;
- d) identify likely visual impacts on the local landscape and townscape and its immediate setting and undertakes appropriate landscaping to reduce these impacts;
- aim to either conserve, enhance or restore important landscape features in accordance with the latest local and national guidance;
- f) avoid detrimental effects on features which make a significant contribution to the character, history and setting of an asset, settlement, or area;
- g) address the importance of habitat biodiversity features, including aged and veteran trees, woodland and hedges and their contribution to landscape character, where possible enhancing these features through means such as buffering and reconnecting fragmented areas;
- h) maintain the existence of viable agricultural units, and;
- i) are sensitive to an area's capacity to change, acknowledge cumulative effects and guard against the potential for coalescence between existing settlements",
- 4.40 Policy HE2: Protection of Conservation Areas, states that:

# "Development will be expected to respect the setting of Conservation Areas and important views both in and out of them."

# Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (Learnington and Whitnash) May 2014

4.41 This Local Development Framework evidence base identifies the Site as reference: L07 (Land North of Milverton). The Site is described as being within an area of 'medium' landscape value. The suitability of the Site for development is described as:

# "Potentially suitable in part, subject to alteration of the Green Belt boundary..."

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)

Residential Design Guide (April 2008)

- 4.42 The purpose of this SPG is to provide a design framework for the provision of residential accommodation in the Warwick District, seeking to promote high quality and innovative design for the housing of the 21st Century. The Guidance sets out a number of requirements that planning proposals should take account of, including:
  - a) "Harmonise and enhance existing settlement in terms of physical form pattern or movement and land use;
  - b) Relate well to local topography and landscape features, including prominent ridge lines;
  - c) Reinforce or enhance the established urban character of streets, squares and other spaces;
  - d) Reflect, respect and reinforce local architecture and historic distinctiveness;
  - e) Retain and incorporate important existing features into the development.
  - f) Respect surrounding buildings in terms of scale, height, form and massing;
  - g) Adopt appropriate materials and details;
  - h) Integrate with existing paths, streets, circulation networks and patterns of activity;
  - i) Provide adequate open space for the development in terms of both quantity and quality;
  - j) Incorporate necessary services and drainage infrastructure without causing unacceptable harm to retained features; and
  - k) Ensure all components e.g. buildings, landscapes, access routes, parking and open space are well related to each other, to provide a safe and attractive environment."
- 4.43 In terms of design considerations, the following elements are identified as contributing to the attractive qualities of many residential areas, and which should be considered in all applications:
  - "Local distinctiveness;

- Densities and increased scale;
- Design character;
- Design practicalities;
- Layout, design and dwelling mix;
- Access for the disabled;
- Parking considerations; and
- Landscaping."
- 4.44 In terms of landscaping, the following detailed guidance is provided:
  - "Use deciduous trees to provide shade in Summer and allow sunlight to filter through in Winter;
  - Avoid excessive overshadowing of buildings whilst placing trees away from south facing elevations;
  - Use planting to maximise solar gain;
  - Use hedges and trees as windbreaks and also to provide shelter from cold draughts, particularly strong northerly winds;
  - Consider boundary treatment of any site as an integrated part of landscape proposals; and
  - Carry out a biodiversity survey of the site as part of the site assessment to ensure that existing habitats can be adequately protected."

# 5.0 LANDSCAPE CHARACTER

5.1 The Landscape Character Assessment approach is a descriptive approach which seeks to identify and define the distinct character of landscapes that make up the country. This approach recognises the intrinsic value of all landscapes, not just 'special' landscapes. The description of each landscape is used as a basis for evaluation in order to make judgements to guide, for example, landscape management or development. In line with this approach, national landscape guidance is now moving from concentrating efforts on designating and protecting those areas of the countryside, which are most important for landscape and wildlife (the quality approach) to a character approach, as a way of enriching the quality of the whole countryside whilst accommodating appropriate development. This approach complements the protection that designations may offer. Figure 3: Landscape Character Plan illustrates the extent of landscape character areas in the vicinity of the Site, as featured in published assessments, extracts from which are included in Appendix 2.

# National

- 5.2 Natural England (formerly the Countryside Agency) has produced a Countryside Character Map of England which includes broad-brush descriptions of the different character areas. Natural England has recently revised its National Character Area (NCA) profiles.
- 5.3 The Site lies within National Character Area 97: Arden, revised and published in May 2012. Key characteristics for Character Area 97: Arden includes the following:
  - "Well-wooded farmland landscape with rolling landform;
  - Mature oaks, mostly found within hedgerows, together with ancient woodlands, and plantation woodlands...;
  - Narrow meandering clay river valleys with long river meadows...;
  - Numerous areas of former wood pasture with large, old, oak trees...;
  - Diverse field patterns ranging from well hedged, irregular fields and small woodlands that contrast with larger semi regular fields on former deer park estates...;
  - Complex and contrasting settlement pattern with some densely populated where traditional settlements have amalgamated to form the major West Midlands conurbation whilst some settlements remain distinct and relatively well dispersed;

- North eastern industrial area based around former Warwick coalfield with distinctive colliery settlements. North western area dominated by urban development...;
- Transport infrastructure, the M42, M40, M6 and M5...;
- Shakespeare's 'Forest of Arden' [...] is still reflected through the wood/and cover, mature oaks, small ancient wood/ands and former wood pasture."
- 5.4 In terms of tranquillity, the character profile states:

"Despite the major road and motorway network, a sense of tranquillity can still be found in the woodlands, sunken lanes, narrow river valleys and enclosed urban landscapes,"

- 5.5 The following Statements of Opportunity are of relevance:
  - "SEO 1: Manage and enhance the valuable woodlands, hedgerows, [...] distinctive field boundaries and enclosure patterns throughout the NCA..."
  - SEO 2: 'Create new networks of woodlands, heathlands and green infrastructure, linking urban areas like Birmingham and Coventry with the wider countryside to increase biodiversity, recreation and the potential for biomass and the regulation of climate change'.
- 5.6 It is further stated that this could be achieved through the following:

"Enhance urban areas and fringes through sympathetic building and landscape design. Creation of new green infrastructure with associated habitat creation and new public access..."

5.7 In terms of 'landscape change' the character profile states:

"There is development pressure throughout the area. The majority of the NCA falls within the southern half of the West Midlands Green Belt which extends around Coventry and Redditch and south to Stratford. Growth proposals seem to be focussed around the East of Birmingham and North Solihull. Coventry is an area previously designated as a growth point and there has been consideration of sustainable urban extensions into the green belt...."

- 5.8 In terms of Future Opportunities, the character profile identifies the following:
  - "...opportunities for good, sustainable design reflecting local settlement patterns, green infrastructure and local character reflected in design and materials; and
  - Associated potential for new green infrastructure building upon the network of sites in the urban fringe,"
- 5.9 Recommendations noted in the Landscape Opportunities section include:
  - "Protect and manage woodlands particularly ancient woodlands and wood pasture to maintain the character of Arden; and
  - Create new green infrastructure with associated habitat creation and new public access on former mining sites and close to urban populations in the West Midlands Green Belt."

# County

# Warwickshire Landscapes Project (1987)

- 5.10 This body of work includes maps and guidelines documents relating to three separate main areas within Warwickshire, comprising Borough of Rugby, Stratford Towns Urban Edge and Arden, Avon and Dunsmore. The Site lies within the third main area and, more specifically, within the Arden sub-area.
- 5.11 The Arden sub-area is split up into a number of different Landscape Character Areas (LCA's) and the Site falls within the Arden Parklands LCA which is described as follows:

"Arden parklands is characterised by large arable fields, often poorly defined by low cut and gappy hedgerows. Although field pattern tends to be a subsidiary landscape element, it is important to conserve primary hedgelines, including those along roadsides, bridleways, footpaths and parish boundaries. These form a key structural element in the landscapes, particularly where they contain mature hedgerow trees. Such features should be conserved and managed more positively as landscape features. This would include allowing hedgerows to grow thicker and taller (up to 2m in height), strengthening individual gappy hedges and encouraging the natural regeneration of hedgerow oaks. Where primary hedgerows have been removed, consideration should be given to replacement planting. 5.12 Overall character and qualities are described as:

"An enclosed, gently rolling landscape defined by woodland edges, parkland and belts of trees,"

- 5.13 The key characteristic features are identified as:
  - "Middle distance views enclosed by woodland edge;
  - Belts of mature trees associated with estatelands;
  - Many ancient woodlands, often with irregular outlines;
  - Large country houses set in mature parkland;
  - Remnant deerparks with ancient pollarded oaks; and
  - Thick roadside hedgerows, often with bracken."

5.14 The Management Strategy for Arden Parklands is as follows:

- "Retain and enhance the effect of wooded enclosure."
- 5.15 Landscape Guidelines are identified as:
  - "Felling coupes should be carefully designed to retain the effect of wooded enclosure;
  - Species selection along woodland edges should favour native trees and shrubs; and
  - Enhance tree cover through the planting of new woodlands and belts of trees."
- 5.16 General Development Guidelines for Arden (relating to housing) are as follows:
  - "Conserve the character of rural settlements by retaining existing features and local patterns in all development schemes; and
  - Soften hard built edges through increased tree planting within and around new development."

# District/Local Level Character Assessments

5.17 There are no district or local level character assessments relating to the Site.

#### Conservation Area Guidance

5.18 The south-eastern part of the Site bounds a very short section of the northern boundary of the Royal Learnington Spa Conservation Area. The conservation area is divided into 37 subareas. The sub-area the Site adjoins is sub-area 33: Kenilworth Road, the key characteristics of which are identified as:

- "Part of planned town layout from late 19th Century;
- North end development late 19th Century with villas;
- Very good street trees;
- South end development with Edwardian houses;
- Larger middle section individually designed interwar houses;
- some 1950's infills, Good detailing, some imaginative designs;
- No.38 is a good 1930's house;
- Good garden trees;
- Varied boundary treatment some ironwork to southern end good brick walls with plinth remain in southern section;
- Large late Victorian house, new residential home at mid point, has unsympathetic extensions; and
- Gardens important to setting of house, linking of plots for redevelopment would not be appropriate,"

# 6.0 SITE APPRAISAL

- 6.1 Figure 4: Site Appraisal Plan illustrates the extent of existing vegetation, boundary features and buildings and roads on or in close proximity to the Site. A number of Site Appraisal Photographs (A-V), included in Appendix 1, have been taken from within the Site as part of the Landscape and Visual Appraisal visit, and serve to illustrate the features on the Site and its existing character, as described below.
- 6.2 The Site comprises 12 arable agricultural fields of varying shapes and sizes with a site area of approximately 83 hectares (ha) in total. Land within the Site is gently undulating with a high point of approximately 72m Above Ordnance Datum (AOD) in the north-west. Land then slopes downwards from this point to the centre of the Site to a level of approximately 60m AOD. Land then slopes up from the centre of the Site to the south-east of the Site to a level of approximately of 65m AOD. Field boundaries comprise of hedgerows and mature hedgerow trees.
- 6.3 The south-eastern boundary of the Site adjoins residential development along Bamburgh Grove, Vernon Close and Northumberland Park, as illustrated in Site Appraisal Photographs A, B and C. Recently constructed properties visible along Northumberland Park fall within the Royal Learnington Spa Conservation Area and these, in combination with residential properties along Vernon Close and Bamburgh Grove, form an abrupt and prominent settlement edge, as illustrated in Site Appraisal Photographs C and H. The eastern boundary of the Site where it abounds Kenilworth Road is delineated by a hedgerow and tree belt (TB1), as illustrated within Site Appraisal Photographs B, C, D, E and I.
- 6.4 A combination of hedgerows and mature trees exist along the boundary where the Site abounds Wyndrush, Broadway, Oak Priors, Oldways and Oak Bank House, located along Kenilworth Road in the north-east of the Site, limiting intervisibility between the Site and these properties, as illustrated by Site Appraisal Photographs G, H and I.
- 6.5 The north-eastern boundary of the Site where it adjoins the Warwickshire Nuffield Hospital is delineated by a tree belt (TB2), also limiting intervisibility between this building and the Site, as illustrated in Site Appraisal Photographs G and H. The Site Appraisal Photographs also demonstrate the character of the northern boundary, which runs alongside Old Milverton Lane in the north-east of the Site, which comprises a dense hedgerow and intermittent mature trees.
- 6.6 Sandy Lane Farm lies to the north-east of the Site, surrounded by hedgerows (H5) and mature trees, as illustrated in Site Appraisal Photographs E, D, H and I.

- 6.7 The northern boundary adjoining Sandy Lane comprises of a dense hedgerow with occasional gaps which allow intermittent views out of the Site towards Sandy Lane, as illustrated in Site Appraisal Photographs F and J.
- 6.8 From the northern boundary of the Site, the existing residential edge of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa is apparent, exerting a level of urban influence over the Site; reducing the sensitivity of the Site; and exhibiting a greater affinity of the Site with the settlement of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa than with the wider countryside, as illustrated by Site Appraisal Photographs J and K.
- 6.9 Site Appraisal Photographs L-S demonstrate the character of the western part of the Site, comprising agricultural fields influenced by the existing built up edge of Milverton, exerting a level of urban influence, which is experienced in views from PRoW W176 which traverses the Site. The Site Appraisal Photographs L-S also demonstrate the limited intervisibility between the Site and the settlement of Old Milverton, separated by the railway corridor and associated tree belts (TB3).
- 6.10 Site Appraisal Photograph T, taken from outwith?? the Site boundary looking east towards Bamburgh Grove and Northumberland Road, demonstrates the limited intervisibility between the Site and the historic part of Royal Learnington Spa Conservation Area (specifically area 33: Northumberland Road), as a result of substantial intervening vegetation in rear gardens and along the eastern edge of fields F8 within the Site and F8a outwith?? the Site boundary.
- 6.11 Site Appraisal Photograph U is looking north over field F7 from the central area of the Site. The photograph demonstrates the strong northern hedgerow boundary along Sandy Lane with landform falling away to the River Avon in the valley beyond. Landform in the valley beyond barely rises above the horizon, limiting views into the wider countryside from the Site and limiting views from the wider countryside back towards the Site.
- 6.12 A large allotment is located within the southern part of the Site, exerting further settlement edge characteristics over the Site, and reinforcing the Site's affinity with the settlement edge rather than the wider countryside, as illustrated in Site Appraisal Photograph V.

# Summary of Site Appraisal

6.13 The character of the Site is influenced by its proximity to the settlement edge of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa, reducing its sensitivity. The Site has strong, robust and defensible boundary features, including tree belts, hedgerows, roads and railway corridors which contain it from the wider countryside and limit intervisibility between the Site and its wider surroundings. The Site contains strong internal landscape features including hedgerows and mature hedgerow trees which define its character.

# 7.0 VISUAL APPRAISAL

- 7.1 A visual appraisal of the Site and its environs was undertaken in August 2014 to determine the relationship of the area with its surroundings, the visibility of the Site within the wider landscape, the suitability of the land for development and the effect that this would have on the landscape and visual characteristics of the area.
- 7.2 The visual appraisal was undertaken from publicly accessible viewpoints within the surrounding landscape, such as from roads and footpaths to determine the approximate extent of the area from which the Site is visible from the eye level of a person standing on the ground. The visibility of any site is predominantly influenced by its landform and the extent and type of vegetation cover and built elements within the Site and the surrounding landscape.
- 7.3 There is, in most visual appraisals, a continuum of degrees of visibility ranging from no view of the Site to full, open views. To indicate the degree of visibility of the Site from roads, public rights of way and properties, three categories of visibility have been used in this assessment:
  - Open view: A clear view of a significant proportion of the Site within the wider landscape.
  - b. Partial view: A view of part of the Site or a filtered view of the Site, or a distant view in which the Site is perceived as a small part of the view; and
  - c. Truncated / No view: Views towards the Site are curtailed by visual barriers, such as intervening topography, vegetation or built forms.
- 7.4 In order to represent the nature of identified views, a number of Site Context Photographs (1-18) are included within the Illustrative Material within Appendix 1. The locations from which these photographs were taken from are illustrated on Figure 5: Visual Appraisal Plan which also gives an indication of the level of visibility of the Site from the surrounding area.
- 7.5 As illustrated within Figure 5: Visual Appraisal Plan and within the Site Context Photographs (1-18), views toward the Site from the north, south, east and west are predominantly curtailed by a combination of intervening vegetation, built form and topographical variation, in all but the most immediate surroundings and a very limited number of longer distances views from elevated land to the north, north-west and west where small parts of the Site are visible but not easily discernible from limited sections of PRoWs, forming a very small element in a much wider view and seen in the context of the existing settlement edge.

Near Distance Views (0-500 metres)

- 7.6 Site Context Photograph 1 is taken from Sandy Road, immediately to the north of the Site where there is a gap in the hedgerow for field access, looking south. Sandy Road and the dense hedgerow which delineate the northern boundary of the Site are visible in the far left of the view. Built form and allotment gardens associated with the settlement edge of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa feature in the view, exerting a level of urban influence over the Site and giving the Site a greater affinity with the settlement of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa than with the wider countryside, reducing the sensitivity of the Site. Field boundaries including hedgerows and mature hedgerow trees provide an important landscape structure within the Site, contributing to the wider landscape character. Road users of Sandy Lane will experience glimpsed, transient views over the Site from short sections of Sandy Lane as a result of the northern boundary hedgerow predominantly curtailing views for road users. These views are seen in the context of the existing residential edge of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa.
- 7.7 Site Context Photograph 2 is taken from further west along Sandy Road close to where it becomes Old Milverton Lane. Again, the dense northern boundary hedgerow predominantly curtails views from along this section of road. However, where there are gaps in the hedgerow for field access, views across parts of the Site are attained, seen in the context of the Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa settlement edge, with views of residential properties on the northern edge of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa visible. The built form of Sandy Lane Farm is also visible from this location, in an elevated position, adding to the palette of built forms which exert an urbanising influence over the Site.
- 7.8 Site Context Photograph 3 is taken from the A452 Kenilworth Road along the eastern boundary of the Site. The road exerts a level of influence over the character of the Site and reduces its tranquillity and sensitivity. Rising landform within the Site limits views over the majority of the Site from this location, with only the easternmost part of the Site visible, with Sandy Lane Farm occupying an elevated position, introducing an element of built form into the view. The tree belt (TB1) running along the eastern boundary of the Site substantially filters/curtails views into the Site from the majority of Kenilworth Road.
- 7.9 Site Context Photograph 4 is taken from PRoW W176 on the edge of Old Milverton, to the west of the Site, looking east. Substantial tree belts along the railway corridor filter/curtail views across the majority of the Site. Topographical variation within the Site limits views from this location towards the centre and east of the Site as land falls away. Existing built form on the edge of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa visible in the view, exerts a level of urban influence over the Site.
- 7.10 Site Context Photograph 5 is taken from Lamintone Drive to the south of the Site, on the northern edge of Milverton, looking north. Recent residential development characterises the streetscape in the left to the right of the view, with the Site partially visible in the left of the view, with views over the remainder of the Site curtailed by intervening built form and topographical variation within the Site.
- 7.11 Site Context Photograph 6 is taken from Windermere Drive near the entrance to the allotments, looking north. Recent residential development characterises the streetscape in the left to the right of the view, with the Site partially visible in the centre of the view, with views over the remainder of the Site curtailed by intervening built form.

Site Context Photograph 7 is taken from PRoW L3 to the south-east of the Site along Bamburgh Grove, looking north-west. Recent residential development along Bamburgh Grove characterises the streetscape in the left to the right of the view, with views towards the Site curtailed by existing built form and intervening vegetation. This recent development of Bamburgh Grove is located between the Royal Learnington Spa Conservation Area (area 33: Northumberland Road) and a section of the Site's south-eastern boundary.

7.12 Site Context Photograph 8 is taken from a location along PRoW W176 slightly further west of the location of Site Context Photograph 4, where the PRoW joins Old Milverton Road. Residential properties within Old Milverton along Old Milverton Road are visible in the left of the view, with vegetation including tree belts within rear gardens and the western boundary of the Site along the railway corridor, predominantly curtailing views towards the Site.

Medium distance (501m-1km)

- 7.13 Site Context Photograph 9 is taken from Sandy Lane, to the north-east of the Site, looking south-west. Views towards the Site are curtailed by topographical variation and intervening vegetation, including woodland blocks and tree belts.
- 7.14 Site Context Photograph 10 is taken from PRoW W177 within Guy's Cliffe Registered Park and Garden (Grade II) to the west of the Site, looking east. The A46 is just visible in the left of the view, with St James's Church visible in the centre of the view, set within a framework of mature trees. The Site is not visible from this location with views curtailed as a result of topographical variation and intervening vegetation.
- 7.15 Site Context Photograph 11 is taken from the B4115 (Coventry Road) to the north-west of the Site, looking south-east. The railway line and viaduct over the River Avon are visible in the left and centre of the view. The rising fields to the south of the River Avon are visible in the right-centre of the view, rising up to a localised ridge, beyond which the Site is located. As such, the Site is curtailed from view as a result of this topographical variation between

this location and the Site. In the right of the view, the railway line disappears from view as it passes the western boundary of the Site, with Old Milverton and St James's Church visible in the far right of the view, separated from the Site physically by the railway line and visually by intervening vegetation, including substantial tree belts along the railway corridor.

Long Distance Views (1km +)

- 7.16 Site Context Photograph 12 is taken from the edge of Hill Wootton, in the vicinity of Wootton Grange Farm, to the north of the Site, looking south. Views towards the Site are predominantly curtailed by topographical variation and intervening vegetation between this location and the Site. A very small part of the Site, limited to its south-eastern edge, forms a very small element within the view, seen in the context of the existing residential edge of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa.
- 7.17 Site Context Photograph 13 is taken from Westhill Road to the east of the Site, looking west. Built form associated with Royal Learnington Spa is present in the view, including North Learnington School. However, the Site is curtailed from view as a result of intervening vegetation including substantial tree belts and mature trees.
- 7.18 Site Context Photograph 14 is taken from Warwick Road/Sustrans Cycle Route 52 on the edge of Leek Wootton, to the north-west of the Site, looking south-east. The A46 and its associated vehicle movements form a prominent infrastructure corridor within the centre of the view with the settlement of Royal Learnington Spa in the distance. The fields to the south of River Avon slope up to a localised ridge, beyond which lies the Site, predominantly curtailed from view, with the exception of a very short length of the northern boundary hedgerow in the north-western part of the Site.
- 7.19 Site Context Photograph 15 is taken from a localised ridgeline along the B4115 in the vicinity of PRoW W174, looking south-east. Substantial woodland vegetation along this road curtails views towards the Site from this location.
- 7.20 Site Context Photograph 16 is taken from PRoW 179d, in an elevated position to the north-west of the Site, looking south-east. The Site is barely discernible from this location with views being predominantly curtailed by intervening vegetation. Where a very small part of the Site is visible, this forms a very small element in the view, seen in the context of the existing settlement edge of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa and other built forms, including Eden Court high rise tower block in Lillington, visible in the centre of the views, situated in an elevated position on the horizon.
- 7.21 Site Context Photograph 17 is taken from a PRoW (recently adopted) in an elevated position to the north-west of the Site in the vicinity of Leek Wootton and Warwickshire Golf

Club, looking south-east. Residential properties within Leek Wootton, including Stone Edge, are visible on elevated ground in the left of the view, set in a framework of mature trees which limit views from these properties towards the Site. Land then falls away to the right of Stone Edge where views towards Royal Learnington Spa are attained from this location. Built form associated with Royal Learnington Spa, including Eden Court tower block in Lillington are present in the view. The majority of the Site is curtailed from view as a result of intervening vegetation and topographical variation, including the southern fields beyond the River Avon which slope upwards to a localised ridgeline with the Site located beyond. The south-eastern part of the Site forms a small, barely discernible part of the wider panoramic view, seen in the context of the existing settlement edge of Royal Learnington Spa.

7.22 Site Context Photograph 18 is taken from an elevated position along PRoW W180 in the vicinity of Prospect Farm and Woodbine Cottages, looking east. Built form associated with Royal Leamington Spa and Warwick can be seen in the distance from the centre to the right of the view. The Site is predominantly curtailed from view as a result of intervening vegetation including woodland blocks and tree belts. However, a very small part of the Site, barely perceptible to the naked eye, limited to the south-eastern section of the Site, forms a very small element of the wider panoramic view, seen in the context of the existing built up edge of Royal Leamington Spa.

#### Summary of Visual Appraisal

- 7.23 The Site's location adjoining the existing built up edge of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa, in combination with its robust and defensible boundaries and surrounding topographical variation (including the Sites location beyond a localised ridgeline of upward sloping fields to the south of the River Avon), extensive tree belts and woodland blocks in the wider landscape, results in views into the Site from publicly accessible areas being predominantly restricted to:
  - Near distance open views from PRoW W176/L3 which traverses the Site;
  - Near distance partial views from a limited number and limited sections of roads immediately to the south of the Site associated with recent housing development on the northern edge of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa;
  - Near distance, partial, transient views from short section of the A452 Kenilworth Road to the east of the Site, where there are limited gaps in the tree belt along the eastern boundary of the Site;
  - Near distance, partial, transient views from sections of Sandy Lane/Old Milverton Lane to the north of the Site;
  - Long distance, partial views from very limited locations on the southern edge of Hill Wootton; and

- Long distance, partial views from a limited number of and limited lengths of PRoWs on elevated ground to the north-west and west of the Site.
- 7.24 Where near distance views of the Site are experienced from publicly accessible places, the Site is seen in the context of existing residential built form on the northern edge of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa and associated infrastructure including the A452 Kenilworth Road to the east of the Site and the railway corridor to the west of the Site. These urbanising features exert a substantial influence over the Site, giving the Site a greater affinity with the urban edge of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa than with the open countryside which exists to the north of the Site.
- 7.25 Where long distance views of the Site are experienced from publicly accessible places, limited to small parts of the Site, the visible parts of the Site form a very small element in a wider panoramic view, seen in the context of existing built form associated with the settlement of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa.
- 7.26 There is limited intervisibility between the Site and Royal Learnington Spa Conservation Area, with the small section adjoining the south-eastern edge of the Site being the only visible part of the Conservation Area. This part comprises recent development and forms a very small element of the wider Conservation Area which covers an extensive part of the settlement of Learnington Spa.
- 7.27 In terms of residential receptors, the views which are most likely to change as a result of the proposed development are those near distance residential receptors immediately adjacent to or in close proximity to the southern, south-eastern and northern edge of the Site. This includes; residential properties along Northumberland Park, Vernon Close, Bamburgh Grove, Fairhurst Drive, Lamintone Drive and Range Meadows Close to the south and south-east of the Site which will likely experience open/partial views towards the Site and proposed built form; and residential properties, including Quarry Cottage, Quarry Lodge and Sandy Lane Farm to the north of the Site, which again will likely experience open/partial views towards the Site, changes in the view will be limited by proposed planting along the northern boundary filtering views over time and the retention of areas of open space in the north-eastern part of the Site limiting views towards built form.
- 7.28 Residential properties along the A452 Kenilworth Road immediately to the east of the Site, including Wyndrush, Broadway, Oak Priors, Oldways and Oak Bank House will likely experience a limited detrimental change in the view with views across the Site filtered by extensive tree belts and mature trees around the boundaries of these properties.

7.29 A limited number of residential properties in Hill Wootton potentially experience distant, partial views towards the Site, likely to be limited to upper floor windows only. In this context, any detrimental change in the view will likely be limited and seen in the context of the existing settlement edge of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa.

#### Landscape Value

7.30 The Site lies within Green Belt but is not covered by any national or local landscape designations. It contains a network of hedgerows and hedgerow trees and a small part of the Site lies adjacent to Royal Learnington Spa Conservation Area. The close affinity with urban development including residential to the south and east; the A425 Kenilworth Road to the east; and railway corridor to the west of the Site reduces tranquillity and remoteness. The Site is considered to be of low to medium landscape value.

#### **Capacity to Accommodate Residential Development**

- 7.31 The Site varies in sensitivity to change, where the southern, western and eastern parts of the Site, which are influenced by adjoining residential development, rail and road corridors, are of lower sensitivity and the northern part of the Site is relatively more sensitive. The Site has the capacity to successfully accommodate residential development due to the low to medium landscape value and sensitivity of the Site and limited extent of intervisibility with the wider landscape. Residential development on the Site would result in a direct change of land use through the loss of areas of farmland and through the introduction of new built elements. However, the retention of open space in the west of the Site; and the provision of a green infrastructure corridor and landscape buffer to the north of the Site, would maintain an appropriate transition between the settlement edge and the wider countryside.
- 7.32 Any residential development would need to be sensitively designed through siting, layout, materials and massing, set within the existing vegetation structure. A comprehensive landscape strategy to enhance the landscape, biodiversity and visual amenity of the Site would be integral to ensure that residential development is readily assimilated within the Site. This would ensure that adverse landscape and visual effects on the surrounding area are limited. Overall it is considered that the Site has a medium to high capacity to successfully accommodate residential development of an appropriate form and scale.

### 8.0 CONTRIBUTION THE SITE MAKES TO THE PURPOSES OF THE GREEN BELT

- 8.1 Following a site visit and a review of baseline material, an assessment of the Site in terms of the first four Green Belt purposes is made within this appraisal, namely the contribution the Site makes to checking the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas, preventing neighbourhood towns merging into one another; assisting in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; and preserving the setting and special character of historic towns. The fifth purpose has not been assessed, and is 'screened out', as the Site is not brownfield land.
- 8.2 In evaluating the contribution of the land within the Site to the Green Belt, the Site has been ranked or quantified within a series of levels or categories, indicating a gradation from high to low, as recommended in the Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (GLVIA). Accordingly, each threshold can be clearly defined, using simple, readily understood terms applicable for all circumstances in which they are applied. These thresholds are set out in **Table 1** within the methodology. An assessment of the contribution that the Site makes to each of the four purposes is set out below.

Green Belt Purpose	Assessment	Contribution of the Site to the Green Belt Limited/Some/S ignificant/None
1. To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas	Royal Leamington Spa has an irregular settlement edge and although development on the Site would result in an extension of Royal Leamington Spa to the north-west, it would not breach the established northern extent of Royal Leamington Spa, which includes Lillington and Cubbington; or the established western extent of Royal Leamington Spa, which includes Milverton. Although the Site predominantly comprises arable fields, it does not display characteristics of strong rural character as a result of the influence of adjoining development, particularly along its southern and south- eastern boundary, including residential development along Northumberland Park, Vernon Close, Bamburgh Grove, The Fairways, Mosspaul Close, Davis Close, Lamintone Drive and Range Meadow Close. The large allotment gardens in the southern part of the Site also displays settlement edge characteristics. The Site is contained by the A452 Kenilworth Road to the east; the built up edge of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa to the south and south-east; Sandy Road/Old Milverton Lane to the North; and a railway corridor to the west. These boundaries are robust, defensible and permanent,	Some reduced to Limited subject to the enhancement of existing landscape structure, particularly along the northern boundary of the Site adjoining Sandy Lane

Table 2: Assessment of Green Belt Purpose of the Site

	and would contain development within the strong boundaries of the Site. These boundaries can be further strengthened through the planting of and enhancement of tree belts along the boundaries. A carefully considered proposed layout responding to and enhancing the existing landscape structure, would form a coherent extension to Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa, and would not constitute 'sprawl'.	
2. To prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another	The settlement of Hill Wootton lies to the north of the Site with the larger settlement of Kenilworth to the north beyond Hill Wootton; the settlement of Leek Wootton lies to the north-west of the Site; the settlement of Old Milverton lies to the west of the Site; and the settlement of Warwick lies to the south-west of the Site.	In relation to the settlement of Kenilworth and Warwick: None In relation to the
	Settlement of Hill Wootton:	settlement of Leek Wootton: Limited
	The distance between the northern edge of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa to Hill Wootton is approximately 1.5km. Development on the Site would result in the settlements of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa and Hill Wootton becoming physically closer, by approximately 350m. However, this would not result in the merging of these settlements. The fields to the immediate south and north of the River	In relation to the settlement of Hill Wootton: Some reduced to Limited with a green buffer on the northern edge of the Site
	Avon are of greater importance in the prevention of the River Avon are of greater importance in the prevention of merging of these settlements, and constitute the undeveloped foreground of views from the settlement of Hill Wootton. The rising topography of this land to the south of the River Avon results in these fields being of greater prominence within local views than the fields within the Site, located beyond a local ridgeline, and of greater importance as a physical and visual gap between settlements. Sandy Road which runs along the north of the Site also	In relation to the settlement of Old Milverton: Some reduced to Limited with the retention of an area of open space in the western part of the Site
	provides a physical and permanent boundary to the Site which could be strengthened with the provision of a landscape buffer, containing development within the Site.	In relation to the settlement of Blackdown: Some reduced to
	Settlement of Kenilworth: The distance between the northern edge of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa to Kenilworth is approximately 3.5km, and as a result the development of the Site would not result in the merging of Milverton/Learnington Spa and Kenilworth.	Limited with the retention of an area of open space between development on the Site and residential properties along
	Settlement of Leek Wootton	the A425 on the southern edge of
	The distance between the northern edge of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa to Leek Wootton is approximately 1.8km. Development on the Site would result in the settlements of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa and Leek Wootton becoming physically closer, by approximately 50-100m. However, this would not result in the merging of these settlements.	Blackdown.
	The fields to the immediate south of the River Avon are of greater importance in the prevention of merging of	

these settlements, and constitute the undeveloped background of views from the settlement of Leek Wootton. The rising topography of this land to the south of the River Avon results in these fields being of greater prominence within local views than the fields within the Site, and of greater importance as a physical and visual gap between settlements.	
The Site and Leek Wootton are physically separated by a railway corridor and the A46 which both travel in a north- south direction. The railway corridor runs along the western edge of the Site providing a robust, defensible and permanent boundary to the Site.	
Settlement of Old Milverton	
The distance between the northern edge of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa to Old Milverton is approximately 250m. Development on the Site would not result in the settlements of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa and Old Milverton becoming physically closer, and would not result in the merging of these settlements.	
The railway corridor running along the western edge of the Site and associated tree belts provides a robust, defensible and permanent boundary and limits intervisibility between the Site and Old Milverton. An undeveloped area of land with strongly defined edges in the west of the Site would retain a physical and visual gap between Old Milverton and Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa.	
Settlement of Warwick	
The distance between the western edge of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa to Warwick is approximately 250m. Development on the Site would not extend further west than the existing extents of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa and as a result would not reduce the gap between Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa and Warwick. The River Avon provides a physical gap between these two settlements which have effectively already merged with built form of these two settlements along the east and west banks of the River Avon.	
Settlement of Blackdown	
To the east of the A452 Kenilworth Road, development in the Green Belt between the northern edge of Lillington/Royal Leamington Spa and Blackdown, including school buildings, pavilions, playing fields and tennis courts, has contributed to some degree of perceived and physical coalescence between these two settlements. Development on the Site would therefore not reduce the gap between the northern edge of Royal Leamington Spa and Blackdown. However, the agricultural fields within the Site, located to the west of the A452, provide some perception of separation between the northern edge of Milverton and the southern edge of Blackdown, including a small number of residential properties to the west of the A452 Kenilworth Road. This	
perception is primarily experienced when travelling along the A452. These residential properties are set within a wooded framework which limits intervisibility between the Site/proposed development and these properties. The	

	setting back of proposed built form from the A452 Kenilworth Road; the strengthening of the eastern boundary of the Site along the A452 Kenilworth Road; and the retention of a physical gap between the proposed development edge and these residential properties will help retain the function of the Green Belt to the west of the A452 Kenilworth Road, in so far as retaining a physical and perceived gap between the southern edge of Blackdown and the northern edge of Milverton. However, the physical gap between the northern edge of Milverton and the residential properties to the west of the A452 Kenilworth Road on the southern edge of Blackdown will reduce from approximately 400m to approximately 150m as a result of the Proposed Development. However, this needs to be seen in the context of the degree of physical and perceived coalescence of Royal Leamington Spa and Blackdown which already exists to the east of the A452 Kenilworth Road.	
3. To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment	The Site comprises a series of arable fields bound by mature hedgerows and trees on relatively flat land, the eastern and western extent of which comprise of tree belts, along road and railway corridors. The Site is subject to urban influences to the south, including residential development; the east, including the A452 Kenilworth Road; and the west, including the railway corridor. The introduction of development within any area of countryside would inevitably result in impacts on the countryside, however, the extent of encroachment will be perceived within a limited visual envelope. Development would result in encroachment into arable fields and the development would form an extension of the built up edge of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa. However, this development would be seen in the context of existing development visible along the northern edge of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa. The Site is defined to its east by the A452 Kenilworth Road, which is a prominent main road connecting Royal Leamington Spa and Kenilworth and Birmingham beyond. The Site is defined to its north by Sandy Road/Old Milverton Lane, with the River Avon running along a valley approximately 300m beyond, and whilst not a 'main road' is a prominent road providing connection to the settlement of Old Milverton. The Site is defined to its west by a railway corridor and associated tree belts. The Site is defined by the built up edge of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa to the south. These boundaries are robust and defensible, and would prevent future encroachment beyond the limits of the Site. The strong Site boundaries would be enhanced through the introduction of a landscape buffer / green transition zone between the edge of proposed development and Sandy Lane/Old Milverton Lane, the result of which would form a robust limit to future development and contain development within the confines of the Site. In addition, these mitigation measures would filter views towards proposed development from settlements and roads to the	Some reduced to Limited subject to the reinforcement of the northern Site boundary with a landscape buffer along Sandy Lane and Old Milverton Lane.

	north and north-west, thereby limiting the perception of encroachment.	
<ol> <li>To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns</li> </ol>	The Site is located adjacent to a very short section of the northern boundary of Royal Learnington Spa Conservation Area. There is no intervisibility between the Site and the remainder of the Conservation Area, which covers an extensive area of the settlement of Royal Learnington Spa to the south of the Site, as a result of intervening built form and vegetation. The wider setting of the Conservation Area will therefore not be affected by the proposed development. There are no Listed Buildings within the Site and no intervisibility between the Site and any Listed Buildings with the vicinity of the Site. The setting and special character of Listed Buildings will therefore not be affected by the proposed development.	Some reduced to Limited subject to development respecting the existing height, form and massing of surrounding residential properties and respecting the setting of the very small section of conservation area which adjoins the Site.

- 8.3 The overall contribution the Site makes to Green Belt is 'Some to Limited'. Subject to the proposed landscape measures including the reinforcement of Site boundaries; the creation of a landscape buffer along the northern boundary; the retention of an area of green open space between proposed development on the Site and the western boundary adjoining the railway corridor with the settlement of Old Milverton beyond; and the retention of an area of green open space between the proposed development and the southern edge of Blackdown, the Site has capacity to accommodate built form whilst maintaining Green Belt function.
- 8.4 Although the Site comprises arable agricultural fields, it does not display characteristics of strong rural character as a result of the influence of adjoining development, particularly along its southern boundary which adjoins the built up edge of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa; its eastern boundary where it adjoins the A452 Kenilworth Road; and its western boundary which adjoins a railway corridor.
- 8.5 The existing boundaries to the Site are strong and robust. The boundaries of greatest sensitivity are; the northern boundary, defined by Sandy Lane; and western boundary, defined by the railway corridor with Old Milverton beyond. These could be enhanced and reinforced through reinforced boundary planting along the railway corridor and the planting of tree belts/landscape buffer along Sandy Lane. In addition, the retention of the fields closest to the settlement of Old Milverton as an undeveloped green open space with strongly defined edges would retain a physical and visual gap between Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa and Old Milverton. A carefully considered layout responding to the existing landscape structure, would form a coherent extension to Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa, and would

not constitute 'sprawl', as development would be contained within the robust and defensible boundaries of the Site.

8.6 Development on this land in combination with the mitigation measures detailed above will maintain a robust and defensible boundary to the settlement of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa and will ensure that visual and physical separation is maintained between the settlements of; Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa and Old Milverton; Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa and Blackdown; Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa and Hill Wootton; and Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa and Leek Wootton.

### 9.0 OBJECTIVES, LANDSCAPE AND VISUAL OPPORTUNITIES AND CONSTRAINTS TO DEVELOPMENT

- 9.1 The overarching aim is to maintain a robust and defensible boundary to the settlement of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa and retain the function of the Green Belt by maintaining separation between Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa and Hill Wootton, Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa and Leek Wootton; Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa and Old Milverton; and Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa and Blackdown.
- 9.2 The following key landscape and visual constraints are to be considered during the design evolution process:
  - Create an attractive and locally distinctive setting, and assimilate the Proposed Development within the existing landscape framework;
  - Retain an area of green open space at the western edge of the Site to maintain both visual and physical separation between the settlement of Old Milverton and Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa. This green space is to respond to and follow existing landscape structure;
  - Retain an area of green open space in the north-east of the Site, between the Proposed Development edge and Blackdown, to maintain visual and physical separation;
  - Introduce additional tree planting/landscape buffer along the northern edge of the Site adjoined by Sandy Road/Old Milverton Lane, to form a robust and defensible edge to Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa; to enhance definition of this edge; to reduce visibility into the Site from the north and north and northwest and to create an appropriate transition to the wider countryside;
  - Retain and enhance existing hedgerows and hedgerow trees where possible, to promote a mature character within the Site, to provide a structural landscape setting to the proposed development and to screen and soften views of built form from the surrounding area;
  - Create a Green Infrastructure corridor/spine running through the Site to provide informal and formal open space and recreation opportunities; sustainable drainage provision; ecological enhancements; and an appropriate transition to the wider countryside to the north.
  - Provide appropriate landscape treatment between the Proposed Development and adjacent residential properties, roads and public rights of way, to ensure that the visual impact of development on adjacent receptors is minimised and the Proposed Development is seen to be well contained;

- Create links between open space, local centres and surrounding countryside. This access network will provide the backbone of the layout design;
- Establish SuDS features, where possible, as a unifying landscape structure across the Site;
- Proposed development on the Site is to respect the setting of and positively relate to the Royal Learnington Spa Conservation Area where it adjoins a short section of the south-eastern boundary of the Site.
- Provide a coherent pattern through street planting to facilitate legibility and sense of place, which extends through the Proposed Development.
- Proposed development will be constructed of materials sympathetic to the local character and which complement immediate built surroundings.
- Maintain and enhance the existing PRoW route through the Site and form green links between residential clusters;
- Retain the area of allotments to the south of the Site as an important community resource;
- To use locally occurring species wherever appropriate; and
- Maintain this framework through an ongoing positive management regime.
- 9.3 Refer to Figure 6: Opportunities and Constraints Plan within which the above are illustrated.

### 10.0 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

10.1 As illustrated within Figure 1: Site Context Plan, the Site lies on the northern edge of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa. A railway corridor and associated tree belts define the western boundary of the Site, beyond which lies the settlement of Old Milverton. The A452 Kenilworth Road and a tree belt define the eastern boundary of the Site. Built form on the northern edge of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa defines the southern and south-eastern boundary, including a very small part of the much wider Royal Learnington Spa Conservation Area. The northern boundary is defined by a dense hedgerow which adjoins Sandy Lane/Old Milverton Lane, beyond which lie fields which slope down to the River Avon.

#### Relevant Local Planning Policy

- 10.2 The Site currently forms part of the Green Belt. However, Policy DAP1: Protecting the Green Belt, of the Warwickshire District Local Plan (adopted 2007), has not been 'saved'. Other, relevant 'saved' planning policies within the Warwickshire District Local Plan (adopted 2007) include those relating to; Layout and Design; Natural and Historic Environment and Landscape; and Protection of Conservation Areas, which a considered approach to the development of the Site could accord with.
- 10.3 Relevant planning policies within the Draft Warwick District Local Plan 2011 2029 include those relating to; Green Belt; Supporting Sustainable Communities; Spatial Strategy; Layout and Design; Green Infrastructure; Landscape; and Protection of Conservation Areas, which a considered approach to the development of the Site could also accord with.
- 10.4 The Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (Learnington and Whitnash) (May 2014) forms part of the evidence base for the Local Development Framework and identifies the Site as reference: L07 (Land North of Milverton). The Site is described as being within an area of 'medium' landscape value. The suitability of the Site for development is described as "Potentially suitable in part, subject to alteration of the Green Belt boundary..."
- 10.5 The Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG), provides guidance and advice on new development and its relationship with settlement pattern, character, distinctiveness, landscape, materials, open space and scale, height form and massing.
- 10.6 The Site is not subject to any other landscape designations other than Green Belt.

#### Landscape Context

- 10.7 In terms of landscape character, the area including the Site has been assessed at national, county and district levels. At a national level, the Site falls within National Character Area (NCA) 97: Arden. Key characteristics of NCA 97: Arden include; a well wooded farmland landscape; rolling landform; mature hedgerow oaks; clay river valleys; diverse field pattern; and a complex and contrasting settlement pattern. The Site exhibits some of these features, for example mature hedgerow oaks and diverse field patterns. However, as a result of the Site's proximity to the built up edge of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa, it has a greater affinity with this settlement pattern, which exerts a level of urban influence over the Site, than it does with the wider countryside. Green Infrastructure provision is identified as an opportunity within NCA 97: Arden, which could be achieved through 'enhancing urban areas and fringes through sympathetic building and landscape design.' A further opportunity for NCA97: Arden is identified as "good, sustainable design reflecting local settlement patterns, green infrastructure and local character".
- 10.8 At County Level, the Site falls within the wider area 'Arden' and within sub-area 'Arden Parklands', noted as being characterised by: large arable fields defined by low cut, gappy hedgerows; belts of mature trees; ancient woodlands; and thick roadside hedgerows. The Site exhibits some of these features, notably relating to fields, trees and hedgerows. A key management strategy for the sub-area is to "retain and enhance the effect of wooded enclosure". General development guidelines for the wider 'Arden' area include "conserve the character of rural settlements by retaining existing features and local patterns in all development schemes" and to "soften hard built edges through increased tree planting within and around new development."
- 10.9 A considered approach to the development of the Site could also accord with the guidance and recommendations set out in the landscape character assessments.

#### Site Appraisal

- 10.10 As illustrated within Figure 2: Topographical Features Plan, the Site is located close to the River Avon, although land falls away to the north of the Site towards the River Avon which meanders across the landscape at an elevation of approximately 50m AOD. Land within the Site is gently undulating with a high point of approximately 72m Above Ordnance Datum (AOD) in the north-west. Land then slopes downwards from this point to the centre of the Site to a level of approximately 60m AOD, before slopes up from the centre of the Site to the south-east of the Site to a level of approximately of 65m AOD.
- 10.11 As illustrated within Figure 4: Site Appraisal Plan, the Site comprises a number of irregular shaped agricultural fields and is strongly defined and influenced by its boundaries,

which include the A452 Kenilworth Road and a tree belt to the east; a railway corridor and tree belts to the west; Sandy Lane/Old Milverton Lane and a dense hedgerow to the north; and the existing built up edge of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa to the south and southeast of the Site.

- 10.12 The fields that comprise the Site are predominantly agricultural land (with the exception of the allotment area to the south of the Site), bounded by well-managed hedgerows with mature field trees. Vegetation belts are present along the eastern and western edges of the Site along the railway corridor and the A452 Kenilworth Road. A dense hedgerow and intermittent mature trees define the northern boundary along Sandy Lane/Old Milverton Lane.
- 10.13 A Public Right of Way (PRoW W175/L3) passes through the Site, travelling in an east-west direction from Bamburgh Grove to Old Milverton.

#### Visual Appraisal

- 10.14 As illustrated within Figure 5: Visual Appraisal Plan and within the Site Context Photographs (1-18), views from public places toward the Site from the north, south, east and west are predominantly curtailed by a combination of intervening vegetation, built form and topographical variation, in all but the most immediate surroundings and a very limited number of longer distances views from elevated land to the north, north-west and west where small parts of the Site are visible but not easily discernible from limited sections of PRoWs, forming a very small element in a much wider view and seen in the context of the existing settlement edge.
- 10.15 In terms of residential receptors, the views which are most likely to change as a result of the Proposed Development are those near distance residential receptors immediately adjacent to or in close proximity to the southern, south-eastern and northern edge of the Site. This includes residential properties along Northumberland Park, Vernon Close, Bamburgh Grove, Fairhurst Drive, Lamintone Drive and Range Meadows Close to the south and south-east of the Site which will likely experience open/partial views towards the Site and proposed built form, and residential properties, including Quarry Cottage, Quarry Lodge and Sandy Lane Farm to the north of the Site, which again will likely experience open/partial views towards the Site. However, in terms of these properties immediately to the north of the Site, changes in the view will be limited by proposed planting along the northern boundary filtering views over time and the retention of areas of open space in the north-eastern part of the Site limiting views towards built form.
- 10.16 Residential properties along the A452 Kenilworth Road immediately to the east of the Site, including Wyndrush, Broadway, Oak Priors, Oldways and Oak Bank House will likely

experience a limited detrimental change in the view with views across the Site filtered by extensive tree belts and mature trees around the boundaries of these properties.

10.17 A limited number of residential properties in Hill Wootton potentially experience distant, partial views towards the Site, likely to be limited to upper floor windows only. In this context, any detrimental change in the view will likely be limited and seen in the context of the existing settlement edge of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa.

**Objectives, Opportunities and Constraints** 

- 10.18 The Site has the potential to accommodate proposed development, set within a strong landscape structure including creating an attractive and locally distinctive setting; retaining an area of greenspace in the western part of the Site; introducing tree planting/landscape buffer/Green Infrastructure corridor along the northern edge of the Site; retaining existing landscape features including hedgerows and hedgerow trees; respecting the setting and amenity of adjoining residential properties; creating links between open spaces; providing SuDS where possible; positively relating development to adjoining buildings and the Royal Learnington Spa Conservation Area; using materials sympathetic to local character; maintaining existing footpaths; retaining the area of allotment; and using locally occurring species where appropriate.
- 10.19 The overarching objective of the landscape proposals is to maintain a robust and defensible boundary to the settlement of Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa and retain the function of the Green Belt by maintaining separation between Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa and the settlements of Old Milverton, Blackdown; Hill Wootton and Leek Wootton. This would be achieved by:
  - Retaining an area of green open space at the western edge of the Site to maintain both visual and physical separation between the settlement of Old Milverton and Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa. This green space is to respond to and follow existing landscape structure;
  - Retaining an area of green open space between the Proposed Development and the southern edge of Blackdown to maintain both visual and physical separation; and
  - Introducing additional tree planting/landscape buffer along the northern boundary of the Site adjoined by Sandy Road/Old Milverton Lane, to form a robust and defensible edge to Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa; to enhance definition of this edge, to reduce visibility into the Site from the settlements north and north-west and to create an appropriate transition to the wider countryside.

#### Conclusion

- 10.20 In conclusion, there is potential for proposed development to be successfully accommodated on the Site and assimilated into the wider landscape. Proposed development of the Site in combination with the mitigation measures detailed above and illustrated within Figure 6: Opportunities and Constraints Plan will maintain robust and defensible boundaries to the settlement of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa and ensure that visual and physical separation is maintained between the settlements of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa and Old Milverton; Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa and Blackdown; Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa and Hill Wootton; and Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa and Leek Wootton. In addition, mitigation measures will ensure that landscape features within the Site are maintained and enhanced, and views toward proposed development are filtered from the north, north-west and west.
- 10.21 The overall contribution the Site makes to Green Belt is 'Some to Limited'. Subject to the proposed landscape measures including the reinforcement of Site boundaries; the creation of a landscape buffer along the northern boundary; the retention of a break between proposed development on the Site and the southern edge of Blackdown; and the retention of a break between proposed development on the Site and the Site and the railway corridor/Old Milverton, the Site has capacity to accommodate built form whilst not undermining the purposes of the Green Belt in this area.
- 10.22 The Site has numerous settlement edge characteristics, influenced primarily by existing residential development immediately to the south and south-east of the Site; the A452 Kenilworth Road to the east of the Site; the railway corridor to the west of the Site; and the area of allotments in the southern part of the Site. This, in combination with the limited visibility of the Site from within the wider area, as a result of existing vegetation and topographical variation, limits the contribution the Site makes to the wider countryside. There is therefore potential to assimilate development on the Site to form a coherent addition to the settlement of Milverton/Royal Leamington Spa whilst respecting and potentially enhancing the settlement edge character.
- 10.23 Based on the above considerations, development on the Site would be acceptable in landscape and visual terms and would respond appropriately to relevant policy at national and local levels. The Site could successfully accommodate residential development, forming a new defined and robust settlement edge to Milverton/Royal Learnington Spa, set within a strong landscape framework, sympathetic to the existing townscape and landscape character.

## **Figures**

Figure 1: Site Context Plan at 1:12,500 scale @ A1;

Figure 2: Landscape Character Plan at 1:12,500 scale @ A1

Figure 3: Topographical Features Plan at 1:12,500 scale @ A1;

Figure 4: Site Appraisal Plan at 1:5,000 scale @ A3;

Figure 5: Visual Appraisal Plan at 1:12,500 scale @ A1; and

Figure 6: Opportunities and Constraints Plan at 1:5,000 scale @ A3













# Appendix 1

Site Appraisal and Site Context Photographs





A H 9ANDOTOHA LABARAPH A



SITE AP PRAZAL PHOTOGRAPH B



STTE AP PRASAL PHOTOGRAPH C





STTE AP PRASAL PHOTOGRAPH D



SITE AP PRABAL PHOTOGRAPH E



STTE AP PRASAL PHOTOGRAPH F



SITE AP PRASAL PHOTOGRAPH G



H H & MOLOGIA TAXAN W AT 13



THANDOLOGI TWINEN OF BUILD







SITTE AP PRASSAL PROTOGRAPH K



I H de DE VERENT DESCRIPTION DE LE SE









O H AVADOLOHI TAXAM M BIT IS





A HANDOLOHA TWENTA AN ALLS



STTEAP PRASMAL PHOTOGRAPH Q



STET AP INA SAL INOTOGRAPHS P. R INCOMER NEED VENTING DEFLACE 20CH BAL DATE TARKA AUG 2014 PROJECT NAMERS 10007

NORTH MEVERTON, WARNESS





H dr aboutoert Prozente dr at 15



SITE CONTECT PHOT GERAPH 1: VIEW FROM SAMEY LANE, LOONDAG S GUTH EMAN 4: 24 Dear bit: 704 400



STITE CONTROL PHOTOGRAPHING IN VERY FROM SWEPY LANS, IN VICENTY OF QUARRY LODGE, LOOKING SOUTH-EAST Control In Burder Stratio



SITE CONTERT PHOTOGRAPH 3: VIEW FROM NEWE WORTH ROAD, LOOKING WEST ACROSS THE SITE

Desire De ADD

RECOMMENDED V EWING DETANCE 20CM ONL

ROJET NUMBER: 18

STR CONTECT PHOTOGRAPHS: 1-3

DATE TARM AUGUST 2014



STIT CONTEXT PHOT CORAMM 4: VIEW FROM PUBLIC REAFT OF WAY WITH/BREDGE OVER MAINLINE RAUW MY, LOO Toban 4: Zan Dem for 5,7h 6.00



STITE CONTEXT PHOTOGRAPH IS VERVITION (ANENCONE CREWE, LOOKEND NORTH Context 201 15 refer 201 ALCO



MENE CRUVE, LOOKING NORT SUTE CONTECT INIOTOGRAPHI & VIEWFROM Date of the Date of the

DATE TARM AUGUST 2014 RECOMMENDED V EWING DISTANCE 20CM ONL SITE CONTEST PHOTOGRAPHS: 4-6 PROJECT NUMBER: 1

NORTH MILLARTON WARWICKENERE



DATE TARM AUGUST 2014 RECOMMENDED V REWING DISTANCE: 20CM BAL

PROJECT NUMBER


stite contect mechoarumi la view ricom public rashe of war way?, withour auf scutterereastreed mark lookens east Device the action Device the action



SUTE CONTECT PHOTOGRAPH 11: VEW RICH MILLS, LCONING SOUTHEAST



STTE CONTECT PHOTOGRAPHI 12: V EW RICH TWICK IN HELL WOOTTOK, LOOKENG S CUTH Debug of LOAn Debug On LOAn

DATE TARM: AUGUST 2014 RECOMPENDED V ENTING DISTANCE: 20CH BAL

STR CONTECT PHOTOGRAPHS: 10-12

NORTH MILLARTON WARWICKENERE

ROTO NUMBER: 18



SUTE CONTERF PHOTOGRAPH 13: V EW RICH WESTHELL ROND, LOOKING SOUTH WEST

Distance 13 day



SITE CONTECT PHOTOGRAPHI 14: V INV REON WINWECKROND/SUSTINANS CY CLEROUTE 52, LOOKING S CUTH-EAST College of 14 in: 19: easter Cin ACD



SITE CONTECT PHOTOGRAPH 15: V EW RICH MULLS, LCON ING SOUTHEAST Deline or 15 the

DATE TARM AUGUST 2014 NE COMME NOED V ENVING DISTANCE: 20CM BAL STR CONTECT PHOTOGRAPHIC: 13-15 PROJECT NUMBER: 10

NORTH MILWRITON WARWICKENERE



SITE CONTROL PROTOGRAPHING AN IRON PUBLIC RESIDES OF MAY WE 790, LOOKENS EAST CAME OF 13 MAY



STE CONTROP PHOTOGRAPHI 17: VIEW PROM WARWOOKSHERE GOLF CLUIR, LOCKENS SOUTH-EVET Device: 10 th: Device: Dir ADD



SITE CONTECT PROTOGRAPH JA: VEW RICH PUBLIC RISHES OF WAYWI BQ, LOCKERG EAST Dealers 2013an Dealers 2014

DATE TARM: AUGUST 2014 RECOMPENDED V ENTING DISTANCE: 20CH BAL STR CONTECT PHOTOGRAPHS: 16-18 ROJET NUMBER: 18 NORTH ME, VERTON



Landscape Character Extracts







Analysis

## Summary

semi natural and ancient wood lands. Mature oaks set in hedgerows, distinctive development and greater pressure upon the existing infrastructure, particularly landscape of the lower lying central area is gently rolling with small fragmented field boundaries, historic parklands and narrow river corridors are key features, assets across the NCA. There are also many local biodiversity assets and strong to the west, the Clent and Lickey Hills and to the east, the Nuneaton ridge. The is further reflected in the range of locally and nationally important geological all on the doorstep of a heavily urbanised area. Land use throughout the area east it drops down to the open landscape of the Mease/Sence Lowlands. The Warwick and Stratford-upon-Avon to the south. This NCA has higher ground around Birmingham, Coventry and the main towns. This pressure could lead to the creation of a new Green Infrastructure linking the urban areas out into has had a strong impact on the landscape's character and development and is mainly, residential, agricultural and industrial including coal mining which the more rural areas. This NCA is among the most geologically diverse. This Worcestershire to abut the Severn and Avon Vales. To the north and northand east of Birmingham, including part of the West Midlands conurbation. eastern part of the NCA abuts and surrounds Coventry, with the fringes of road, rail, air and canal run through the area. There is likely to be increased River Avon in Warwickshire, the Arden landscape also extends into north is still active in the north east of the NCA. Numerous transport corridors; Traditionally regarded as the land lying between the River Tame and the Arden comprises farmland and former wood-pasture lying to the south cultural links with William Shakespeare and his 'Forest of Arden'

# Statements of Environmental Opportunity

- SEO1: Manage and enhance the valuable woodlands, hedgerows, heaths, distinctive field boundaries and enclosure pattems throughout the NCA, retaining the historic contrast between different areas whilst balancing the needs for timber, biomass production, climate regulation, biodiversity and recreation.
- SEO2: Create new networks of woodlands, heaths and green infrastructure, linking urban areas like Birmingham and Coventry with the wider countryside to increase biodiversity, recreation and the potential for biomass and the regulation of climate change.



- I SEO3: Conserve and enhance Arden's strong geological, industrial, and cultural resource, to increase public access, enjoyment, recreation and to retain a sense of place and history.
- SEO4: Enhance the value of Arden's aquatic features such as the characteristic river valleys, meadows and standing water areas like Bittell reservoirs, to increase resource protection eg. soil erosion, soil quality and water quality.







## Description

# Physical and functional links to other NCAs

To the north west of Arden is the Mid Severn Sandstone Plateau NCA on the edges of Hagley Park. The Birmingham conurbation then links Arden with Cannock Chase and Cank Wood NCA. These National Character Areas, along with Arden, form the Natural Area referred to as 'The Midlands Plateau'.

In the north east, the M42 transport corridor links the Mease/Sence Lowlands NCA and a sliver of the Trent Valley Washlands with Arden along the edge of Tamworth. On the eastern edge, the Warwickshire landscape flows into the Leicestershire Vales. In the central section of Arden the River Arrow starts its journey south and then merges into the River Avon near Bidford on Avon in the Severn and Avon Vales. Moving south, the River Avon flows into Dunsmore and Fedon then on into Severn and Avon Vales in the south west.

From the highest point in Arden (Walton Hill, in the Clent Hill range), there are views from the summit looking south west into the Shropshire Hills, Malvern Hills, Teme Valley and south into the Cotswolds. There are also views across the NCA taking in the southem fringes of Birmingham from the Heart of England Way near Meriden.



The eastern slopes of Walton Hill, the highest point in the NCA



## Key characteristics

- Well-wooded farmland landscape with rolling landform.
- Geologically diverse with rocks ranging from the Precambrian to the Jurassic and overlain by superficial Quaternary deposits.
- Mature oaks, mostly found within hedgerows, together with ancient woodlands, and plantation woodlands that often date from the time of enclosure. Woodlands include historic copplice bounded by woodbanks.
- Narrow, meandering clay river valleys with long river meadows; the River Blythe SSS lying between the cities of Coventry and Birmingham is a good example of this.
- Numerous areas of former wood-pasture with large, old, oak trees often associated with isolated remnants of more extensive heathlands. Village greens/commons have a strong association with remnant lowland heath. Fragmented heathland persists on poorer soils in central and northern areas.
- Diverse field patterns, ranging from well hedged, irregular fields and small woodlands that contrast with larger semi regular fields on former deer park estates, eg. Packington Hall and Stoneleigh Park.
- Complex and contrasting settlement pattern with some densely populated where traditional settlements have amalgamated to form the major West Midlands conurbation whilst some settlements remain distinct and relatively well dispersed.

- North eastern industrial area based around former Warwickshire coalfield, with distinctive colliery settlements. North western area dominated by urban development and associated urban edge landscapes such as managed green space, eg. allotments, gardens, parks, golf courses (rough areas) and public open spaces; playing fields, churchyards, cemeteries and institutional grounds (schools, hospitals etc).
  - Transport infrastructure, the M42, M40, M6 and M5 are major transport corridors that sit within the landscape of this NCA.
    Shakespearek Forest of Arden' featured in 'As You Like H' is still reflected
- Shakespeares' Forest of Arden', featured in 'As You Like It', is still reflected through the woodland cover, mature oaks, small ancient woodlands and former wood pasture.



Demonstrating the undul ating lan dscape between Coventry and Birmingham looking west along A45, near to Meriden.



An example of the meadering clay river valleys with long river meadows typical of the Arden landscape.









		Analysis
a dorumenti	in the second	Landscape change
	•	Key facts and data
		Opportunities
		Description
97. Arden		Summary
National Character Area profile:		

## Landscape opportunities

- Conserve, enhance and restore the area's ancient landscape pattern of field boundaries, historic (including farm) buildings, moated sites, parkland and pasture and reinforce its well wooded character.
- Protect and manage woodlands particularly ancient woodlands and wood pasture to maintain the character of Arden.
- Manage and restore hedgerows especially in the north-eastern part of the area (enclosure patterns) and restore parkland, ancient trees and stream side trees plus manage and replace in-field trees and hedgerow trees.
- Maintain and restore areas of heathland particularly in southern Arden, Arden Parklands and Birmingham Hills, lowland meadows and pastures and floodplain grazing marshes.
- Manage arable cultivation to encourage rare arable plants and rangerestricted farm land birds and mammals, following appropriate management options under Entry Level Stewardship.
- Restore habitats associated with river valleys particularly the Blythe and Tame.
- Create new green infrastructure with associated habitat creation and new public access on former mining sites and close to urban populations in the West Midlands Creen Belt.



## Wooded estatelands

The Wooded estimitands is mainly a periphent Arden landscope, but characterised by The continuity of this pattern is thus desembers on tree cover, and where this is weak herefore atmod at creating a more unified herdscape by enhancing the structure and undulating topography emphasises the importance of woodlands in the landscape. ange blocks of woodland, smaller onverts, and areas of parkland. The large scale the structure of the landscape also tends to be rather fragmented. The strategy is wooded chanacter of these areas.

### Management strategy

Conserve and enhance the overal! structure and well wooded character of the lendscope

## For the most part this landscape is characterized by a large scale holiged field pattern, which in many places has become fragmented and is in dedine.

landscape and they should be managed more positively as landscape features. This would Where tree cover is weak, this pattern becomes more significant and in these midleways, loopaths and parish and farm boundaries, which often include many of the include allowing hedges to grow thicker and caller. Where primary hedgeows are very reas it is important to avoid further fragmentation of the landscape through heidgerow removal. In particular, it is important to conserve primary hedgelines along madialites, uppy, or have been resurred, consideration should be given to replacement planting. omaining hedgenow inces. Primary hedgelines form the essential structure of the

## Rivers and streamlines form important landscape features, especially where Ê

along stream margins. Large woodland plancing should be avoided, pontcularly where help to create a sense of scale and enclosure by dividing the budicape into should be encouraged. Planting new mees may also be appropriate in places, but care and wedands. New plusting should reflect the siratous nature of the water course and should be taken to avoid ecologically important sites such as unimproved grasslands they are fringed by scattered trees and shrahs. Well wooded areamines should also aim to keep one bookside clear to maintain a watery of wildlife habitars. a series of large compartments. To maintain this effect natural regeneration of trees this has the effect of infilling meanders.

Bolgrow and gruten trees are an important leature within and around rural sentences, where they provide shellow well. balance to the built environment. Mature trees are particularly valuable as

tocal landmucks and their presence often creates a strong sense of place. Troos also soften indsape. This especially important where the surrounding furnhand has a more open. he hard edges of new buildings and help to link the sottement two the wider firmed. necessary resore, a fringe of smaller fields and trees around the edge of the settlement. large solir chemoter. In such meas it is particularly important to retain, and where This may be best achieved through local initiatives such as a Parish Map project.

PART ONE

### Landscape guidelines

manage them more positively Conserve and restore all primary hedgelines and as leadscape features

Enhance the continuity and wooded character of river stream corridors

cover within and around runal Conserve and enhance tree settlements

## Part one Landscape assessment

#### Arden

introduction the region known as Arden is Birmingham plateau. Traditionally regarded as Avon in Warwichshire, Arden type landscapes intimate, historic character with a strong sense the land between the river Tame and the river puliding materials throughout the area and the with their surroundings. This is Slukespeare's one of the more wooded parts of the Midlands an area of former wood pasture and ancient woodlands and 'waste' which remains today many farmeteods and hombets blend subdy farmlands bying on the eastern side of the Although there are few dramatic physical Forest of Arden', historically a region of batures, the Anten countryside has an of unity. Brick and timber are the chief also extend into north Worcestershire.

area of Trianaic rucks covered for the most part Palaeozoic strata - the South Staffordshire and East Warwickshire plateaus - separated by an A LEVE minor tributory streams trickling in irom meaning high land'. This relates primarily to slow-moving manufating river with countless Birmingham platean. In the wider context of lying than the adjoining Palsenzoic arras and finely cut by the River Blythe and its tribuary Physical influences The name Arden is the West Midlands, the Birmingham platem the northern and central parts of the region by glacial drift. This constral plateau is lower sands and gravels or houlder clay. This gives Mercia mudsones with a covering of glacial the plateau a flat to gently rolling chancer, streams which flow morthwards to join the in Warwickshire it is longely underlain by derived from the old Dritish word 'Ards' which lie across the main Severa-Trent consists of two uplified units of older watershed on the eastern side of the Forme at History Hall. The Blythe is a

comparatively recent times. The Tame valley is wider than that of the Blythe and has a much more developed floodplain with at least two tre badly drained and occupied by sluggish braided streams. Indeed, some of the place rames, such as Pen End, Sedgemore and Beadmock's Marsh, suggest that the area. retained its mershy character until associated gravel termoes.

older melos, which rise to just over 180 motre the East Warwickshire plateau is a dissected correlating mainly of red mark and similatone owards the Mease Lowlands to the north-ensi the landform, the planeau slopes gradually into near Corley. The major part of the plateau is These are fringed on the north and north-une Atherstone and Nuncation. These older rocks. mainly consisting of hard diorite and quantzit forms a pronomiced edge to the platest along eastwards, where glacial drift deposits flatten and chamoterised by red, free draining soils, spindle-shaped heest of Carbonilerous and menciated. A microw band of Cambrian and pre-Cambrian rocks also outcrop along the north-eastern edge of the plateau, between The Carboniferous rocks are also cut off on by the Middle (Productive) Coal Messares. modstones and present a stoop scarp slope the west by a major boundary fault which with which the Warwickshire coalfield is undend plattens closely associated with a are farthed against the adjoining Triassic the Blythe and Tame valleys. South and occupied by the Upper Coal Measures. To the south of the main Sevena-Trent the valleys of the Avm and the Soure.

watershed lie the river basins of the Arrow and vorted undulating topography characterised by underliain mainly by Mercia mudstones, has a writes of prominent escarpments. Steep slopes tre also found along the Lias escarpment to ownerops of Arden sandstone which form a the Alne which drain southwards into the Avon valley below Alcester, This area.

Arden

powallel ridges of glacial origin are a feature of boundary is the Ridgewary, a flat-topped ridge swift flowing and often enclosed in storp sided watershed of the old Avon-Soar river system. The tributaties of the Arrow and the Alne, in contrast to those of the Blythe, are frequently associated with the lower parts of both rivers also of glacial origin which once marked the Arrow, where they form areas of flatter land the east of Haselor, while a series of marrow while terrace deposits occur unly along the Snitterfield. To the west along the county the area between Wootien Wawen and valleys. Narrow alloytal floodplatus are adjoining the river corridor.

which have created the man-mode landscapes and special features which clearly distinguish influencing the character of the present day influences, developed over many centuries, physical features it is these subtle human landscape. In a region with few dramatic development of Arden is a major factor Arden from other areas of the county. Human influences The historical

The resulting clearances were farmed as small more intensively developed Feldon estates to hedged enclosures or 'closes' which created a characteristic pattern of small irregular fields. areas between Tanworth and Rowington and settlements were established at an early date. These were particularly representative of the served as an area of sessonal pasture for the the south. However, permanent pastoral Agriculturally Arden may have ortginally from Allesley to Fillongley.

the lower Arrow and Alne valicys and the areas around Bearley and Norton Lindsey. Generally represented to any degree in the Elythe valley. In contrast open field agriculture was only this was closely associated with nucleated

ALL AND, carby in the southern part of the region with villages. Precesseal enclosure began relatively

PART ONE

and Kenthworth Castle parklands, which were enclosed between the 16th and 18th centuries former deergenies. Examples are the Warwick Extensive woodland cover remained until the valley full enclosure was not completed until pentern of medium sized fields. In the Blythe the 19th century resulting in a more regular pomern of larger fields. Elsewhere enclosure into large semi-regular fields is a feature of gradual enclosure produced a characteristic century. Here the rolling topography and

enclosed from the 15th century onwards and it Survey. This registered over 30 square miles of penturies, numerous manorial deer parles were much woodland was cleared and enclosed for mble and stock. Between the 12th and 14th though good examples survive at Packington hetleswell, which are most prominent today woodland and wood pusture. Subsequently is these, for example Merevale, Arbury and wooded mannes recorded in the Domesday Norman Conquest, with the most heavily created which prohably helped conserve inpression upon the modern landscape, and Sooneleigh. Parks continued to be woodland cover. Most have left hitle

tregular sinuous boundaries and woodhumlo novement of this period with the planting of ground in Arden is much enclosing, plent(fiel of Greenwoods' one inch County map showed wither shrinkage occurred during the 19th of ancient woods. Often they are named as pres and woode". However, by 1822 C & ] nany small woods and coverts. These are Century as maps show only slightly more only small remnants of woodland. Linde uniform in size and shape and lack the additions revelted from the Enclosure woodland than is found today. Minor coverts', 'gunus' or 'antimetes'. Commons were a feature of areas of remnant accelland and many were wooded until

### Arden parklands



Arden perklands, Goed examples survive of both medieval deer parits and parliands provide directity and interest in the landscope. True purklend, however, in Parkland was once essensive throughout the region, hut despite losses to alariting to replace old trees. Planting should search the original design intertions of agriculture and urban development, it remains a characteristic leature in 8th and 10th century omanemal parkiands. As well as their historical importance, otatin the peaceful, pasterial character of traditional pockland and to encourage new retination to grass with scattered trees is in decline. Muny areas of former park have seen taken into intensive agricultural production and old parkland trees frequently tand aubacd and dying within arable fields. Whenver possible it is important to individual parks. Where opportunities may arise through Government incentives conderation should also be given to reinstating areas of former park. Arden parklands is characterised by large and/de fields, often pourly defined boundaries. These form a key structural element in the landscapes, particularly where hey contain manue hedgenow trees. Such features should be conserved and manufed encouraging the natural regeneration of hedgernw calo. Where primary hedgernes thicker and taller (up to 2m in bright), arreingthening individual gappy hedges, and more positively as landicape features. This would include allowing hedges to grow by how cut and gappy bedgerows. Although field pattern tends to be a edgelines, including these along roadsides, bridleways, footpaths and parish subsidiary landscope element, it is important to conserve printry tare been removed, consideration should be given to replacement planting. bleathland was unce a common feature on the poorer sundy softs associated creation of heathland. With the 1990's agricultural policy offering incentives to reduct arable production there may also be opportunities for creating headhand on formland anger areas of heathland, this distinctive regional characterizatic could be considerably where the soils are suitable. By re-establishing pedents of healthy vegetation, or even with areas of glociel drift in Anlen packlands. Where these have been aneighened. This would provide visual diversity, enhance nature conservation worked for sand and gravel there area positive apportunities for the

interest, and restore an important historic learnic in the landscape.

 Existing parkland should be retained and enhanced and where opportunities arise, restoring areas of former consideration given to park.

Conserve and strengthen primary hedgelines and positively as landscape manage these more outures

re-establishing heathland on Identify opportunities for suitable sites

### Arden parklands

endoure. The mory old deeperks have a porticularly important historical dimension cover, however, is fragmented in places. The overall management scategy is cheefenre most dominant elements, although parkland also contributes to the effect of wooded The effect of wooded enclosure in this hardscape is created by the presence of large aimed at creating a more unified landscape by enhancing the wooded character of pares which define the scale and character of the landscape. Visually they are the ancient woodlands and belts of trees. These create a sequence of linked wooded which adds variety and cultural interest to this landscape. The continuity of tree these areas

Management strategy

 Retain and enhance the effect of wooded enclosure

> which would discort the scale of the landscape. Enclosure and landscape scale can be muintained by choosing a regeneration system which minimises visual change to losy recentions in from of felling coupes; minimizing visual change to key accisers of the It is important to retain the offset and overlapping retear of woodlands. and belts of troos as these croate a strong sense of enclosure. Any major broaks in continuity would have the effect of opening up distant views woodland; staggering fellings over time, including premature and late felling; and retaining drifts of trees on the odge of felling coupes. When managing woodlands sections of a woodland. Such a system might include: well shaped and scaled these approaches would create interest and diversity in the landscape. é

large woods cannot be seen. These woods are ideally suited for commercial surticularly as continuous single species stands, they present an unnatural appearance and disrupt the overall broadbawed character of the landscape. This effect could be edges are the most prominent features. As a result a major part of many The genity rolling topography of this landscape is such the woodband oftened by the inclusion of well shaped and scaled, irregularly spaced groups of iorestry operations. However, where confers appear along woodland edges, woodleaves to yary species height and diversity. The wooded character of Arden parklands depends on the continuity of the

ognificant new planting in these areas. Mixed woodlands would be acceptable as long is edges and skylines are sensitively handled. Belis of mess should be broadleaved in various tree cover elements to create a sequence of linked wooded spaces. Where tree cover is weak, particularly on the edge of urban areas, the structure of the landscape also tends to be rather fragmented. There is scope for

character. Purticular attention should be given to the location and shape of new

planting and to the space it encloses

Landscape guidelines

carefully designed to retain Felling coupes should be the effect of wooded enclasura

favour nutive trees and woodland edges should Species selection along shrubs

woodlands and helts of trees Enhance tree cover through the planting of new

#### Arden

common was grassland or heather with thickly relatively recent times. A typical wood pasture represented areas of heathland on poorer snils and the numerous 'Heath' names indicate those Commons have left little impression upon the be identified as areas with a geometric pottern cleared of woodland at a relatively early date. Commons did not disappear completely until present landscape, except that they can often and Shrewley, the latter extending nearly 10 the last stages of enclosure in the early 19th. scattered trees and bushes. Other commune century. The largest occurred at Sembourne miles from Rowington to Buhall Crimmon. of fields and lanes within a surrounding irregular or semi-regular pattern,

wrynide cottage established on a routside verge Ardon humlets, especially those known as End? community. These formed the basis of many Commons attracted settlement by buildess or 'Growt'. An allied settlement type is the labourers and poorer sections of the and taking in a long linear garden.

generally found in Anden was closely related to farmsteads and hamlets. This dispersed pattern heathland enclosure was a pattern of seathered period. As a result many substantial brick and intel-owning personnery gave rise to a weaklys timber farmbouses were built in the 16th and class of yeoman farmers by the late medieval 17th centuries, often on earlier monted sites, mechways and footpaths which grew up to The dispersed settlement pottern more agricultural development. The typical expression of woodland asserting and is reflected in a maze of namow lancs, serve outlying farms and hamlets. A

A more recent and very distinct settlement type is associated with the ptt villages of the coalmining industry. Extensive coal exploitation began in north Warwickshine in the 19th At May contrast and the second state of the test of the first of the second sec

PART ONE

sectound effect on the landscape of this part of situated on hill tops and with a very distinctive Warwickshire. Mining villages contain much northern' chanacter. Some of these were new villages built to house mining families, while early 20th century terraced horising, often others were older villages relocated as a colliery expended.

The presence of coalmines attracted secondary industry which relied on coal for power. Hams made the morth eastern part of Arden, between built to transport the coal to other areas of the electricity directly from coal. Other industrial other products. Bailways and reads were also spread far beyond the colliery gates, and have plants sprung up to convert coal to colic and country. The effects of the mines therefore Hall power station was built to produce indicate unlike any other in the county Farmworth and Nuncaton, an industrial

types. They reflect the underlying geology and dominated by oak on the light sandy soils and greatest ecological interest today are those that and no buge areas have survived. The sites of resulted in the development of grassland and rivers and streams. All of these hobitatis have soils and stake an important contribution to Marshined occured in low lying areas along been greatly influenced by land-use history retain remnants of these ancient vegetation consisted of dense broadleaved woodland wood pasture over much of the area with Woodland drammer, from earliest tisses, woodlands, also form prominent visual andscope character. Some, particularly vegetation of Arden is thought to hure heathland on the poorer, leached soils, Ecological influences The mural lime on the beavier clays and loams. features.

Arden but are most common in the parishes of uncient woodlund Scattered blocks of ancient semi-natural woodland occur throughout

Arden

Ard/801 river vulleys: These landscapes mark the marrow, linear river corridors of the Arrow, Alne and Bythe, and a small section of the Biver Cole. They are defined exclusively by the limits of the allowing flood plains, through associated river across or steep river bluffs may be important features in the landscape as experienced from the river toolf.

The reser channel is the dominant feature of these knokcopes, especially where it is well defined by fringing address and serab. Old willow pollards are also locally important. The most diverse river channels are those which have been least affected by inter improvement works. These are typified by many meanders, islands and shingle leeds. They also retain a varied hould profile with much manglaid vegetation. In places these features are associated with adjoining flued meadows, creating a strong sense of place and feeling of mounplness. The sound and movement of water adds to this tranquility, particularly in areas of fact fluoting shallows.

defined by ditches or whe fences, but in places a strong sense of unity. Elsewhere, this unity is Permanent pasture is a characteristic feature of the houndary of the floodplain is marked by a the Alne and the Blythe and also at Studley on the traditional land-use and where intact have a high value as assure conservation stics. Wet greedand and march add further interest. The field pattern in these meadows is often poorly peaceful, undisturbed, pastoral character with river corridors. Within the alluvial floodplain of the Arden river valleys, flood mendows are extensive areas of flood meadow occur niong farmined to the river's edge. This is especially the river Arrow. These landscapes retain a interrupted by the encroachement of arable prominent, sinnous hedgeline. The most true along much of the Arrow.

There are five buildings within these strongly in

PART ONE

the percentil, andisturbed character of the riverside errirounnent. Due to their linear notime, however, the impact of development of the movement and noise of traffic is often very noticeable. This is particularly evident along the Arrow near Redelich and the Blythe at Packington.

## General development guidelines

One of the key determinants of kandscape character is whether built development instructes on the landscape or integrates with it. With the diverse means available, through planning policy and related planning and highways logislation, a significant influence can be exercised in mitigating any adverse effects of development and in humessing its many potentially reducing effects. The general development guidelines set out before are designed to achieve choose ends. These guidelines should be regarded as a good practice guide to be opplied to all new development wheever it may occur. More specific design guideance to conserve and strengthen local softlement character can be found with the strategy and overall guidelines section.

The to its mean landwape character Arden retains a wealth of antiquities and historic buildings. Many of these are scheduled as moturi mamments ar bated buildings, but there are many others unprotocool by official designations. These features provide strong social and calumnities with the past and add considerably to landwape detail at a local level. They are also part of our heritage and it is important to conserve all stars of archaeological and historical significance. The athenthamising influences associated with new development are an increasing pressure on the traditional character of sentements, and are having a subtle, cumulative impact. Examples include the oscimal modermisation of buildings, the erection of ithariniated and corporate plastic madiale signs, the replacement of roadiside hedges with quark graving omanomul screens, the increased use of security fencing, and even standardised bardiscripting achiences, Standardised planning and highway draign criteria also often necessates the replacement or mademisation of existing fencines and tend to result in uniter bland and characteries developments. Much more discretion is model features such as wells, readiade budges in recal landscapes. In periodiat, original features such as wells, readiade budges and mature trees should be restrictlar, original features such as wells, readiade budges and mature trees should be restrictlar, original features such as wells, readiade budges and mature trees should be restrictlar, original features such as wells, readiade budges and mature trees should be restrictlar, original features such as wells, readiade budges consideration should be restrictlar, original features such as wells, readiade budges and mature trees should be restrictlar, original features such as wells, readiade budges consideration should be restrictlar, original features such as wells, readiade budges and mature trees should be restrictlar, original features such as wells, readiade budges and mature trees should be restrictlar, original features such as wells, readiade budges and mature trees should be restrictlar, original features such as wells, readiade budges are budges as the such a provide and replacing such features.

The interface henseen new development and the aurounding landscope and comoleen appear sharp and stark. The planting within and around new development is one of the best ways to soften hard edges. Integration can

here be achieved by allowing established torset to run into a development site and designing new planning in break up their densety built appearance. At feast 10% of the aim should be allocated for tree and wroodiand planning and resources alrund be provided for the ongoing management of these features. Opportunities should also be sought, perheps through planning gain, for offsite wroodiand planning to help hild the development into the wider bandscape pattern. The aim should not nacessarely be to hide balldings, but rather to integrate them into the landscope, using locally occurring number species. Ormanenal species planned an quick growing screens, particularly dependent', should be avoided.

 Conserve all sites of archneological and historical importance  Conserve the character of rural settlements by rotatining existing features and local partorns in all development schemes

 Soften hard buft edges through increased tree planting within and around new development

		0
Arden	Addantifier rulling Addantifier rulling Addantifier rulling Man inter rulling David benches each at tercoke trees and graing meaders Torren tremeleng trees each at tercoke trees and graing meaders Torren tremeleng trees each at tercoke trees and graing meaders Torren trendense at the tercoher trees and graing meaders Torren trendense at the tercoher trees at the tercoher trees at the tercoher ter	
	PART ONL	
	on many rates effect moral at flords.	Θ
current trends	Ind a particularly deflections effect on many formetly percellal rund landscapes. Improvements to extering and exalignment have resulted in the termoval of hedgrews, ancient hedgebanks and fonds.	
Landscape change and current trends	presente for the material of the oblighted to the activity of the theorem of the transfer of t	

l

l

Arden

River rulling wellunds The character of the Tame Valley to the south of Tamworth is arceogly influenced by urban and influential activities including mineral extraction, power lines and major road and rull romes. The river corridor lies in a broad valley which for the most part is poorly defined by gendy sloping sides. Between Kingelmy and Dosthill, however, there is a more prominent river bluff where the valley runs along the edge of the Neeth Warwickshire placem. Sizep secubly banks are a feature in this area.

Areas of farmland still remain between the transport records and gravel pits, thoogh some of these are areas of restored gravel workings where there are large fields with no hodges or troos. Elsewhere pockets of pasture remain and gerride a reminder of what the landscripe must have been like some years ago. This former River mesidowlands handscripe has largely been replaced by open water and distarbed ground. The River valley weilands is a highly molified, and in places rather featurefess, river corridor landscape, extensively worked for sand and gravel. Successive phases of extraction and nearration have resulted in a very variable handscape with little sense of unity. Five benal somes can be distinguished representing different stages in the development of a completely new river landscape. These include:

- areas currently being worked for sand and
- gravel unrestored ar newly restared areas around
  - recently flooded gravel workings mature wetland areas around old flooded
    - gravel workings
- areas that have been filled and restored to farmland
- other non-agricultural land used mainly for severe treatment lagoons
- The mature wetland note perhaps best

PART ONE

river landscape, which is most well developed at Kingsbury Water Park. This is an enclosed wooded landscape characterised by a series of linked spaces camprising areas of open water. These vary in size from small ponds to large lakes. The straight edges around score of these lakes are visually discordant but overall the appearance of the landscape is considerably softened by much woodhard, serieb and lines of necs. The Biver Tame is not a promitent former in this webland landscape, and the polluted and often heavily modified channel has used few features of interest.

The power station at Hams Hulli Is a particularly prominent feature within the wider valley although much of the site lies on the edge of the allowial floodplain. Associated industrial features including spelit lips, pylans and railways, however, tanpinge onto the river valley. Together with the memby searage treatment works these features have a major physical and visual import creating a disturbed landscape with little sense of watty. The river chumel through this area is condised and faced with flored banks.

## Landscape change and current trends

placeau area so the south of Birmingham many sataliholdings are now farmed port-time or given over to pany paddoclas.

In purallel there have been changes in grassland character with the making of stlage rather than hay. This has resulted in many indicional pastures being rescooled or ingreout by chemicals and berbicides, which has greatly diminished their floristic interest. There are now very few grasslands which retain their original enture conservation retain there. The interadication of agriculture has in places resulted in the wholesale termoval of hedgerows and trees creating open fragmented lawdwaptes. This has been postcolledy marked in the meth of the region where the historic pattern of small treegular fields has been completely swept away in some areas. The features that remain often appear out of scale with their serroundings. In particular isolaned field trees and remnun gapty hedgerows triftore the impression of a landscape in decline. Land draimage has severely affected the character of many river handscapes. This has resulted in a loss of webmed habitats and the conversion of former Bood meadows to amble production. Wethand habitats have also been cleared during river channel management. The River Arrew in particular has lost much of the merginal vegenation and associated wet grassiand, and is only slowly recovering. Similarly, with the dennise of working mills many mill lears and Islands have been lost. Although further agricultural expansion is now less likely, declining incomes and continued uncertainty in the short term may result in intensification of production on existing hand. This could lead to continued 'improvement' of older grasslands and further loss of hedgrerows.

A Construction of the longer term new incontines may encourage more environmentally sensitive PART TWO

farming, with perhaps a return to more madriceed mixed farming regimes. Prionity areas for returning to postner might include Ancient Arden handscapes, river floadpluins and areas of former park and heads. Surphus arable land cruld also be negreed for other uses such as new woodfords. ITRES and woodlantds: Since the 1990's 10% of ancient woodland sizes have been parily cleared, largely for agriculture bat also fee urban development and interral extraction. In addition three has been a distinct change in woodland character with 42% of ancient sites replanned with a mixture of native and cootic spectres. Muot notably there has been a demise in eads as the final timber crop. Memy small planting schemes have also favoured quick growing non-indigenous spectos, often to provide cover for game or shelter around buildings.

Mithough a dominant chement in the landscape, many small woods have been neglocated, resulting in annumaged, even-aged stands. Likewise hodgerow cales and parkland trees are for the most purt mature and in many phases there are few young trees constrain on to replace them. Excessive trimming of hedges exactiones this problem by supervasing the natural regeneration of hedgerow trees. Without urgent actions the wooded character of the landscape.

In the future it is likely that there will be continued incentives for kindowners to plant trees through government planting schemas. Provided that new planting complements existing landweape characters and avoids damsging historical or coological features, it should be encouraged. To maintain the essence of Anten, however, oak must remain the dominant tree species.

TANKAL T	Image: Section of the section of th
	and the roots why a particular correst of action has been recommended. The guidelines should be used to conjourction with the fold out many eccompanying this booklet. This shows the foreigner of the corrent bandscape types individually the act and contrast of the foreigner of the corrent bandscape types individually the act and contrast of the foreigner of the corrent dandscape types individually the act and contrast of the production with the fold out many eccompanying this booklet. This shows the foreigner of the foreigner of the foreigner of the foreigner of the production that the map. They represent the production the action of the correst senses, are indicated by bacicling on the two the transformed by bacicling on the two the production and the production and back the transformed by bacicling on the two the production and the production and the back the transformed back to the test half. The transformed back the sense and the commentation of these changes to the foreigner of these changes to the foreigner of these changes to the test half. The transformed to the commentation of the commentation of the commentation and the production with the shiftighted the environmentation of the commentation of the commentation of the commentation of the commentation and the approximation of the commentation and the two the test and the approximation of the commentation and the approximation of the commentation and the approximation of the commentation and the approximation and the approximation of the commentation and the approximation and the appro
	Introduction that the object of the provided o

